COUNSELORS' PERCEPTIONS OF THE MENTAL HEALTH ASPECTS OF INFERTILTY

FOR HETEROSEXUAL WOMEN

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Michelle Ann Westbrock

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Major Program: Counselor Education

> > October 2014

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

Counselors' Perceptions of the Mental Health Aspects of Infertility for Heterosexual Women

By

Michelle Ann Westbrock

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North Dakota State

University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Jill Nelson

Chair

Dr. Brenda Hall

Dr. Claudette Peterson

Dr. Kristen Benson

Approved:

10-3<u>1-2014</u>

Dr. William Martin

Date

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

This qualitative study explores counselors' perceptions of the mental health aspects of infertility for heterosexual women by addressing the following five guiding questions: (1) How do licensed mental health counselors understand the infertility experience for the heterosexual woman client? (2) What is the counselors' experience of working with heterosexual women clients with infertility? (3) What do licensed mental health counselors ascribe as the goal of mental health treatment of infertility? (4) What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of appropriate mental health interventions for infertility? (5) What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of harmful mental health interventions for infertility?

To address these questions, ten participant interviews were conducted with licensed mental health counselors in the state of North Dakota. Out of the interviews, ten themes emerged which addressed four of the five guiding questions. The fifth guiding question was addressed by using representative participant responses. Themes were substantiated by direct quotes from the participants. An examination of the literature was then conducted to analyze any gaps between emerged themes and the existing literature on the topic. These gaps were addressed in the discussion, which also includes limitations of the study and recommendations for future research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are a number of people I would like to acknowledge for their significant amount of support and guidance throughout this research experience. First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Jill Nelson for providing the constant encouragement needed to help me stay the course. I was fortunate to find intelligence, compassion, and competence all in one person. Her mentorship throughout this doctoral program has been instrumental to my personal and professional development. I would also like to thank Dr. Brenda Hall, Dr. Kristen Benson, and Dr. Claudette Peterson for making such a supportive committee and contributing your wisdom throughout the process.

I would also like to thank my husband, Jason. He has demonstrated tremendous amounts of patience and really stepped up to the plate so I could work toward completing my goal. I respect his hands-on approach as a husband and father. I thank my beautiful children, Leyton, Teagan, and Tatumn, for being the greatest motivating source I could have had, and also for providing me so many opportunities for much needed laughter. I would also like to thank my parents, Roger and Laurie Weigel for all your assistance and support. My siblings, Mitch (Kellie) Weigel and Michaela Weigel, have really assisted me throughout this process with motivating words of encouragement and providing an extra hand with their nieces and nephews.

My peer reviewers, Dr. Janelle Stahl Ladbury and Dr. Jennifer Boeckel, both provided phenomenal insights throughout the data analysis process. They also offered words of wisdom and support as they have paved the way before me. I am very appreciative of all the time they volunteered to see me complete this research project. To all my dear friends, thank you for sticking by my side when I dedicated all my extra time to my research. This process was made all the better due to all of you. Thank you!

iv

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my children. Leyton, Teagan, and Tatumn, may you find joy in challenging yourselves one step beyond your comfort zone. You are much loved.

| ABSTRACT | iii |
|--|------|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | iv |
| DEDICATION | v |
| LIST OF TABLES | viii |
| INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| Context of infertility | 1 |
| Statement of the problem | 3 |
| Need for this study | 4 |
| Purpose of this study | 4 |
| Researcher lens | 5 |
| LITERATURE REVIEW | 7 |
| Etiology of infertility | 7 |
| Meaning of fertility | 8 |
| Emotional experiences of infertility | 9 |
| Coping with infertility | 12 |
| Mental health treatment of infertility: appropriate interventions and foci of treatment. | 16 |
| METHODOLOGY | 24 |
| Introduction | 24 |
| Rationale for qualitative research | 25 |
| Research participants | 25 |
| Research design | 28 |
| Data collection | |
| Data analysis | 30 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Trustworthiness | 35 |
|--|----|
| PRESENTATION OF DATA | |
| Introduction | |
| Participants | |
| Themes | |
| DISCUSSION | 61 |
| Summary of results | 61 |
| Suggestions for being a more knowledgeable and proficient practitioner | 63 |
| Limitations | 70 |
| Recommendations for the future | 71 |
| Conclusion | 73 |
| REFERENCES | 75 |
| APPENDIX A. IRB APPROVAL | 86 |
| APPENDIX B. ORAL PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT SCRIPT | |
| APPENDIX C. INFORMED CONSENT | 89 |
| APPENDIX D. DEMOGRAPHIC FORM | 94 |
| APPENDIX E. INTERVIEW QUESTION GUIDE | 95 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table | Page |
|--|------|
| 1. Data Analysis Example | 31 |
| 2. Sorted Data Analysis Example | 33 |
| 3. Participant Demographic Information | 39 |
| 4. Guiding Question #1 Table | 40 |
| 5. Guiding Question #2 Table | 46 |
| 6. Guiding Question #3 Table | 51 |
| 7 Guiding Question #4 Table | 53 |
| 8. Themes | 61 |

INTRODUCTION

Context of infertility

The ability to conceive and carry out pregnancy is taken for granted by most, yet according to the American Pregnancy Association, 6.1 million American couples are experiencing reproductive challenges. Society shows some concern for reproductive health in the form of preventing unwanted pregnancies and sexually transmitted infections, however gives less attention to conceiving and successfully carrying out a full-term pregnancy (Rank, 2010). This lack of attention does not minimize the experience of those suffering with infertility.

According to the Center for Disease Control data collected in 2009; 11.8% of women in the United States ages 15-44 have reported using infertility services and 7.4% are infertile (as cited in Paul et al., 2010). Infertility has been defined as the inability to conceive after one year of regular, unprotected intercourse (Brown, 2004; Lykeridou, Gourounti, Deltsidou, Loutradis, & Vaslamatzis, 2009; Paul et al., 2010; Tüzer et al., 2010; Watkins & Baldo, 2004). Infertility can be further classified into primary infertility, which is never bearing a child, or secondary infertility, which is the inability to conceive after one live birth (Gibson & Myers, 2000).

Fertility during adulthood is an anticipated major normative transition. Therefore, infertility constitutes a nonevent transition (Gibson & Myers, 2002) and often requires individuals to redefine their identities (Anderson, Sharpe, Rattray, & Irvine, 2003; Jones, Jenkinson, & Kennedy, 2004; Korpatnick, Daniluk, & Pattinson, 1993; McDaniel, Hepworth, & Doherty, 1992; Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2008; Schmidt, 2006). Infertility is a pervasive concern, which invades those who experience it in ways they can't begin to predict. Its effects include economic, physical, social, and emotional hardships, especially for women (Gibson & Myers, 2002; Goacher, 1995). According to a New York Times article dated April 28, 2012, in

vitro fertilization, which is the most common, but also a last-resort, procedure for infertility can be expected to cost between \$12,000 and \$17,000 per cycle. This financial strain can be stressful for both partners equally, but for other effects of infertility, the stress is greater for the woman (Goacher, 1995). An example of how women experience more stress than men is physically from fertility drugs and treatments (Mastroianni, Morell, Sokol, & Begany, 1997). Another reason for increased hardship for the woman is because her aspiration for a child might play a more dominant role in her life narrative, with fewer available alternatives to stabilize her self-identity (Edelmann, Connolly, & Bartlett, 1994). Goacher (1995) narrowed down five ways women experience more stress than men: (1) waiting for pregnancy test results, (2) time required for treatment, (3) fertility drug side effects, (4) sex on demand, and (5) treatment costs. For these reasons, the present study will focus primarily on the impact of infertility and the mental health treatment of infertility for women.

Literature examines the experience of infertility from the heterosexual, married woman's perspective. In addition to primary and secondary infertility, there is also social infertility, which refers to infertility due to lacking access to all necessary components of conception and applies to gay, lesbian, and single individuals (Rank, 2010). The experience of infertility for heterosexual women can differ from single and lesbian women's experience with infertility. Additional obstacles of infertility for lesbian women that most heterosexual women do not experience include religious objections, moral and ethical determinations, insurance coverage due to inability to be legally married in many states, discrimination, and legal barriers (Rank, 2010). Although many emotional experiences may be shared between heterosexual and lesbian women, there are enough additional obstacles challenging lesbian and single women to

distinguish them as two different experiences. This paper will focus primarily on heterosexual women diagnosed with primary or secondary infertility, not social infertility.

Statement of the problem

According to Boivin & Kentenich (2002), "15-20% of couples undergoing infertility treatments find it so stressful it necessitates mental health counseling" (as cited in Wischmann, 2007, p. 83). While half of those impacted with infertility will likely never have a child (Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2008), some find counseling, which includes a mind-body learning component, can increase pregnancy rates (Domar, 2000). For most, the goal of mental health treatment is not necessarily to increase the likelihood of getting pregnant, but instead to lessen the negative impacts caused by infertility (Hammerli et al., 2008). At this point, very little is known about the counselor's understandings of infertility or successful mental health treatment.

Infertility is a social concern, which counselors can be a major source of support if they fully understand all the nuances it entails. Different societal norms can actually impact the level of distress a couple will experience (Vizheh et al., 2013). For instance, if maternity is viewed as the primary role of the woman, and marriage as a means of reproduction, then couples will likely experience greater levels of distress (Vizheh et al., 2013). Social norms run deep and provide a profound stigma toward childlessness. According to Miall (1985), norms prescribe that couples should want children. Therefore, childlessness is a stigmatizing experience. Stigmas judge voluntarily childless couples to be unhappily married, psychologically maladjusted, immature, selfish, lonely, and misguided (Miall, 1986). Often involuntarily childless couples get wrongly attributed with the same stigma as voluntarily childless couples since the only outward symptom of infertility is not having a child. Childlessness often challenges people to rethink their hopes

for the future. This is originally "felt as a crisis, then a disruption and finally a derailment of life dreams" as often a fantasy baby already holds a significant place in their hearts (Shapiro, 2008, p.143), and possibly even in their homes. Counselors can help those with infertility to recognize how societal expectations and pressures are playing a role in their mental health. However, since counselors are a part of society, they could also hold the same misunderstandings about infertility as the society at large.

Need for this study

This paper highlights the plethora of studies available, discussing all the different emotional consequences of infertility. Klonoff-Cohen, Chi, Natarajan, & Sieber (2001) went further to discuss how important it is to regulate the feelings of distress because the more distressed patients are the less likely they are to conceive. This suggested inverse correlation between levels of distress and pregnancy rate validate the importance of interdisciplinary care. While there are a number of different mental health treatments presented in the literature, no research was found addressing the understandings of licensed counselors regarding infertility and the mental health treatment with heterosexual women dealing with infertility. Brown (2004) stressed the importance of mental health professionals being aware of their views regarding infertility as well as making sure the mental health professionals have adequate knowledge to work with the issue of infertility, including causes and treatment. At this point, there is not a very clear picture of what is happening in those counseling sessions and whether or not it aligns with the practices recommended in the literature.

Purpose of this study

The purpose of this qualitative study is to uncover the understandings mental health counselors have of infertility for heterosexual women. Research covers the experience of

infertility for the clients, as well as some recommended treatment approaches; however, this study will address the gap in research regarding what is actually happening in the counseling room when somebody with infertility goes to a local, general counseling practice counselor and presents with infertility. This was addressed by interviewing 10 mental health counselors to address the following five research questions:

- 1. How do licensed mental health counselors understand the infertility experience for the heterosexual woman client?
- 2. What is the counselors' experience of working with heterosexual women clients with infertility?
- 3. What do licensed mental health counselors ascribe as the goal of mental health treatment of infertility?
- 4. What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of appropriate mental health interventions for infertility?
- 5. What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of harmful mental health interventions for infertility?

Researcher lens

Because "the researcher is the primary instrument for data collection and analysis," (Merriam, 2009, p. 15) it is important to understand his or her perspective on the topic of study. These subjectivities can add value to the study by joining personal qualities to the data. The rationale for this study is driven by the researcher's desire to make sure women with infertility are getting served in ways that address their needs, instead of having the counseling room be one more place reinforcing society's misunderstood messages. In order to move in this direction, the first step is to see what counselors' active perceptions are, as those will be emanating throughout the counseling room and impacting treatment. Depending on what is found from this study, determinations can be made about whether further training for counselors will better serve the clients.

I have been encountering more and more instances of infertility both professionally as a licensed mental health counselor, and personally as a woman in her reproductive years with many acquaintances in their reproductive years. I am approaching this research acknowledging these prior experiences contribute to assumptions toward this topic. One assumption is it is very difficult for somebody without reproductive challenges to fully understand the experience of those with reproductive challenges. Another assumption is that depression symptoms will be the focus of treatment, while some of the infertility-specific experiences might get overlooked. Maybe this is because counselors feel more prepared and comfortable with depression symptoms. In order to keep these assumptions in check, I will be maintaining reflective field notes throughout the research project (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008). Peer reviewers will have access to the reflective field notes throughout the entire research experience in order to ensure trustworthiness of data collection, analysis and interpretation.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Etiology of infertility

Infertility has gone through an evolution of etiological theories. It was first believed caused by unconscious conflicts, fear, anger, and repression in women. Research has not been able to show a causal link between these psychological states and infertility, so this psychogenic view has diminished in popularity (Greenfeld, 1996). An example of unconscious conflict given by Christie & Morgan (2000) is when people with infertility strongly desire to conceive but continue to harbor ambivalent feelings towards pregnancy.

According to the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (2007), infertility has been increasingly viewed as causing distress rather than as the result of distress. The more accepted psychological sequelae model operates under a similar premise, stating infertility is the cause and not the consequence of psychological distress. According to Greil (1997), this model focuses on the stressful nature of infertility and its treatment, believing it results in emotional consequences such as stress, depression, relationship difficulties, and social isolation (as cited in Jacobs, 2003).

Infertility can be attributed to both men and women. However, only 20-26% of couples seek treatment due to male factor infertility (Evers, 2002). When looking at the cause of infertility considering both men and women 35% is attributed to male infertility, 15% attributed to ovulatory dysfunction, 35% attributed to tubal dysfunction, 5% attributed to other and 10% unexplained. Considering women alone, 40% is attributed to ovulatory dysfunction, 40% to tubal dysfunction, 10% to other causes, and 10% unexplained (Rank, 2010). Kelly-Weeder and O'Connor (2006) stated female factor infertility has increased during the past 10 years in large part due to an increase in sexually transmitted infections (STIs), as well as advancing age,

extremes in body weight, and tobacco and caffeine. Stress has been a commonly blamed culprit of infertility as well. According to Kaufman (1984), most experts do acknowledge that physical dysfunctions causing infertility may be prompted by emotional factors. Brown (2004) stated stress is rarely the cause of infertility; however, high stress may cause infertility-related concerns such as irregular ovulation and fallopian tube spasm.

Meaning of fertility

There are many meanings reproduction can have, including feeling a part of the adult world, fulfilling a biological imperative, and providing a love object (Brown, 2004). Different personality theorists have addressed the issue of fertility as discussed in Brown (2004). For instance, Freud believed the Oedipus complex is when the inner conflict gets resolved for girls; "She gives up her wish for a penis and puts in place of it a wish for a child.... the girl has turned into a woman" (Freud, 1989, p. 676). Impacting a future generation is an important sign of healthy development according to Erikson's stage of generativity vs. stagnation (Brown, 2004). This impacting can be done through biological reproduction or through other activities that nurture the next generation. While women might have a strong yearning to have children, Margaret Mead (1962) discussed how it is hard to differentiate that desire from society's strong expectation of carrying out the caretaker role. This implies women might have just as hard a time grieving the caretaker role created by society as grieving the actual child. Thus, society's expectations of femininity and motherhood not only add a layer of distress for the infertile heterosexual woman, but also dictates what a heterosexual woman ought to desire in order for her life to be meaningful and fulfilling.

Emotional experiences of infertility

The impacts of infertility create an intense amount of distress that some authors have labeled the worst crisis and likened to the level of distress found in cancer, HIV, and heart disease (Domar el al., 2000; Paul et al., 2010; Tarabusi, Volpe & Facchinetti, 2004). This paper further explains emotional experiences as they are related to infertility, while recognizing each individual woman will have her own unique reaction to her infertility experience. This generalized discussion can give practitioners a starting place to build rapport and help the client feel understood.

Sense of self. Kirkman (2001) conducted in-depth interviews with infertile women who described infertility as a blow to their sense of self. This increased the difficulty in establishing a new coherent life story. In order to create, and be excited about, a new life story it has to be more appealing than the old life story. The blow to the sense of self, which would serve as the foundation upon which the new life story would be built, could challenge creating a new life story. Women subjectively rate infertility as more devastating and take greater personal responsibility for the infertility (Greil, 1991). This fragile sense of self combined with the increased sense of personal responsibility lead to fears her partner will abandon her or will resent staying in the relationship (Berk & Shapiro, 1984).

Feelings of depression. There is an established relationship between life stress and depression (Paykel, 2001), making accompanying feelings of depression one of the most documented effects of infertility (Anderson et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2004; Lykeridou et al., 2009; Matthews & Matthews, 1986; Miles, Keitel, Jackson, Harris, & Licciardi, 2009; Schmidt, 2006; Tüzer et al., 2010). Chen, Chag, Tsai, & Juang (2004) found that 40% of infertile patients met criteria of anxiety, depression, or both, which sharply contrasts with a community

prevalence of 3%. Some of the identified risk factors of depression include female gender, repeated treatment cycles, unsuccessful treatments, low socioeconomic status, foreign nationality, lack of partner's support for women, previous depression, and two to three years history of infertility (Domar, Broome, Zuttermeister, Seibel, & Friedman, 1992). There is also an association between levels of depression and successful treatment as found by Khademi, Alleyassis, Aghahosseini, Ramezanzedeh, & Abhari (2005) when a before-after study was conducted with 251 women being treated at a university-affiliated teaching hospital for assisted reproductive technology. This study utilized the Beck Depression Inventory scores and found the score rose after unsuccessful treatment and dropped if the treatment was successful. There was a positive correlation with the Beck Depression Inventory score after treatment scores and duration of infertility.

Isolation. A symptom related to depression is the tendency for those suffering with infertility to isolate. However, this population gives specific reasons for increased isolation. Reasons given to isolate include "avoiding insensitive remarks, misguided sympathy, advice, or unintentional hurtfulness of being in the company of pregnant women or children" (Matthews & Matthews, 1986 as cited in Brown, 2004, p. 33). Revenson, Schiaffino, Majerovitz, & Gibofsky (1991) recognized the double-edged sword regarding social support. Well-intended friends and relatives provide unsolicited advice such as "just relax," possibly doing more harm than good, leading the couple to feel increased frustration and isolation. The lack of social support can also be a source of strain for the couple (Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2009, p. 37).

Powerlessness. Brown (2004) found a theme in her interviews regarding issues of control. Many people have learned how to be successful in most areas of their lives by

persistence and hard work; infertility, on the other hand, challenges their previously held beliefs about the role they play in shaping their futures (Brown, 2004).

Grief. Grief is another common experience (Lykeridou et al., 2009; Matthews & Matthews, 1986; Shapiro, 2008), but it is unique with infertility for a couple reasons. With infertility, the losses are invisible and lack the social support people usually receive when their loss is tangible (Bergart, 2000; Volgsten, Svanberg, & Olsson, 2010). Other losses can include losses in self-esteem, security, control, faith (Naish, 1994), beliefs, and values related to relationships, health, status, self-confidence, and being cheated out of important life events (Brown, 2004). According to Volgsten et al. (2010), even after IVF treatment, 30-40% of couples will remain childless; 3 years afterward these couples report feelings of grief, meaninglessness, and emptiness.

Guilt. Guilt (Lykeridou et al., 2009; Matthews & Matthews, 1986; Milden, 1989) is often experienced more in the diagnosed infertile partner. It often entails the partner doubting his or her spouse's affection and fearing his or her spouse will leave him or her for a fertile partner (McDaniel et al., 1992). Additionally, Volgsten et al. (2010) report both men and women express disappointment in not giving their parents any grandchildren.

Stress. The research looks at stress, both in how infertility leads to stress and also how stress impacts fertility (Brown, 2004; Lykeridou et al., 2009; Miles et al., 2009). Domar (1996) states stress levels from infertility can be compared to stress levels experienced from divorce or death (as cited in Brown, 2004). This is particularly relevant because of the many confirmed findings that stress has both direct and indirect effects on pregnancy success (Boivin & Schmidt, 2005; Facchinetti, Matteo, Artini, Volpe, & Genazzani, 1997; Gallineli et al., 2001). The doubleedged sword with infertility is that the process of infertility treatment itself is very stressful

including the worry regarding finances, risks of treatment, and how to balance work with treatments (Brown, 2004). According to Brown's study (2004), the treatment is both physically and emotionally exhausting, likening it to a big experiment on the body. Therefore, stress comes not only from the physical treatments but also from the emotional upheavals.

Relationship strain. The research is daunting in regard to the pressure put on the marital relationship when faced with infertility (Anderson et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2004; Levin, Sher, & Theodos, 1997; Schmidt, 2006; Tarabusi, Volpe & Facchinetti, 2004, <u>Vizheh, Pakgohar, Babaei, & Ramezanzadeh, 2013</u>), with sex being one of the most noted stressors as it becomes more of a chore than a pleasure (Hart, 2002; Myers & Wark, 1996; <u>Vizheh et al., 2013</u>). In addition to the strained sex life, couples need to learn empathic reciprocity and mutual empathy to increase their understanding of themselves, their spouses, and the situation (Gibson & Myers, 2000). Vizheh et al. found different genders experience infertility differently, leading to dissociation in couples. Failed attempts at pregnancy are linked with high rates of dispute and divorce in these couples; however, infertility counseling can improve marital and sexual satisfaction. Peterson et al. (2012) suggested counselors should seek permission to address the couple's sexual life directly by providing educational information, addressing myths, and answering questions.

Coping with infertility

The abundance of research about coping with infertility was completed in the 1980s and 1990s and came up with quite similar findings. Callan and Hennessey (1989) defined coping as "an attempt mentally or through some action to master, tolerate or reduce demands that exceed our resources" (p. 343). Strategies to cope with infertility found by these authors include: (1) being mentally prepared, (2) accepting and redefining the situation, (3) keeping busy, avoiding, and denying, (4) seeking information and support, (5) taking action to be a problem solver, (6)

looking to alternative rewards besides pregnancy, (7) calmly accepting emotions, (8) discharging emotions, and (9) resigned acceptance (as cited in Jacobs, 2003). It is critical that those suffering with infertility understand how their coping might be serving for or against their overall mental health.

While most of the literature agrees on the successful coping strategies, there were some noted differences. For example, Menning (1980) likened the phases of grief for couples with infertility to Kubler-Ross's death and dying model, which includes denial, anger, bargaining, depression, and acceptance. Patterson (1986) disagreed and discussed how coping with grief is different and unique for the infertility population; grieving fertility involves unfulfilled hopes instead of memories, infertility seldom has an end point, death involves an irreversible loss instead of recurring periods of hope and loss, death is public and brings social support, and infertility is stigmatized whereas death is not. In order to best assist this population, it could be detrimental to assume their coping and grieving experience could be likened to general grief.

Another contradiction was found between task and emotion-focused coping. Problemfocused or task-oriented coping is defined as "coping that is directed at managing or altering the problem of distress," and emotion-focused coping is defined as "coping that is directed at regulating emotional responses to the problem" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 150 as cited in Levin, Sher, & Theodos, 1997). There is also a classification between avoidant strategies, which move the focus away from the stressor, and nonavoidant strategies, which focus on the stressor (Levin et al., 1997). Coping strategies engaged in emotional processing, regulation and expression have been found to be linked with lower levels of depression (Berghuis & Stanton, 2002); however, Levin et al., (1997) found the use of task-oriented coping to be associated with the highest level of marital satisfaction.

Stanton, Tennen, Affleck, & Mendola (1992) found that women dealing with infertility engage in more problem solving coping than their fertile counterparts. Compared to their male counterparts, women are more likely to use avoidance (Hsu & Kuo, 2002; Jordan & Revenson, 1999; Morrow, Thoreson, & Penney, 1995; Prattke & Gass-Sternas, 1993; Stanton et al., 1992), confronting (Prattke & Gass-Sternas, 1993), planful problem solving (Jordan & Revenson, 1999; Prattke & Gass-Sternas, 1993), positive reappraisal (Jordan & Revenson, 1999; Morrow et al., 1995), increasing space (Lee, Sun, Chao, & Chen, 2000), sharing the burden (Lee et al., 2000), storytelling (Keystone & Kaffko, 1992), and social support techniques (Hsu & Kuo, 2002; Jordan & Revenson, 1999; Morrow et al., 1995; Stanton et al., 1992). They are less likely to use distancing and self-controlling coping (Stanton et al., 1992).

According to Miles et al. (2009), 42% of women dealing with infertility reported clinically significant levels of distress. The following coping strategies and factors have been found to increase psychological distress in women: accepting responsibility (Morrow et al., 1995; Stanton et al., 1992), escape-avoidance (Morrow et al., 1995; Peterson, Newton, Rosen, & Schulman, 2006; Stanton et al., 1992), expressive gender role identity (Miles et al., 2009), and male factor infertility (Lykeridou et al., 2009). Lazarus & Folkman (1984) believed gender role identity, career role salience, and societal pressure all influence a woman's cognitive appraisal and therefore distress level.

On the other hand, these coping strategies and factors have been found to decrease psychological distress in women: planful problem solving (Stanton et al., 1992), social support (Gibson & Myers, 2002; Stanton et al., 1992), positive appraisal (Hsu & Kuo, 2002; Stanton et al., 1992), and having paid employment (Bleier, 1994). It is crucial that mental health

professionals assess women's level of distress and try to strengthen these coping mechanisms where possible.

While this paper discusses coping methods associated with greater and lesser degrees of emotional distress in women with infertility, it should be noted that men also experience distress and use different mechanisms than women to cope with the distress. In fact, Morrow et al. (1995) found in a study with 86 men dealing with infertility that 65% were above the norm in psychological distress, and 15% were in the clinical range. Men tend to use the following strategies more than women to cope with their distress: emotional suppression (Stanton et al., 1992), being the best (Lee et al., 2000), denial (Burns & Covington, 1999), distancing (Burns & Covington, 1999; Peterson et al., 2012), avoidance (Berghuis & Stanton, 2002; Burns & Covington, 1999), and withdrawal into themselves (Burns & Covington, 1999).

There appears to be a clear link between coping style and emotional distress. However, exploring how couples can cope successfully can be an intricate process, due to the complexity of individuals and matching coping styles of each partner. When working with women it is important to look, not only at how she is coping, but also how her partner is coping, and how that might be impacting her experience. For example, men tend to use avoidance more than women, however when one partner utilizes this strategy, the other also tends to use avoidance to the same degree (Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2008). Also, if a woman is seeking emotional validation from her partner but receives an attempt at problem solving the couple will likely experience distance instead of the sought after emotional connection (Peterson et al., 2012). The next section will address different approaches to successful treatment of infertility, in addition to decreasing the levels of avoidance in both members of the couple.

Mental health treatment of infertility: appropriate interventions and foci of treatment

While the research is exhaustive on the implications and coping strategies for infertility, it seems to be scarcer regarding successful treatment, especially theoretically driven and welldesigned interventions with empirical support (Jacobs, 2003). It was noticed during the literature review how the 1980s and 1990s focused heavily on the emotional experiences and coping strategies with very little focus on mental health treatment; in the 2000s, research started focusing on mental health treatment, while research on emotional experiences and coping strategies drastically decreased. The literature that is available for effective coping strategies presents contradictory results.

Mental health treatment is ecological beginning with the individual, then the couple and extending to family, friends, coworkers, and anyone else with whom they interact, including medical professionals (Shapiro, 2008, p.140). When Boivin & Kentenich (2002) interviewed 129 gynecologists, almost 50% believed mental health services are necessary when reproductive treatment fails, whereas 38% believed it should be offered at the beginning of treatment. Interestingly, they also interviewed women going through infertility treatments and found only 24% of them wanted counseling when reproductive treatment was not successful and 32% wanted counseling right from the beginning (as cited in Wischmann, 2007, p.86). Even though the level of distress associated with infertility is known to be great, less than 25% of couples actually seek out help (Vizheh et al., 2013). Greil & McQuillan (2004) were interested in what patients are currently doing to seek support and found the following patterns: 66% of women went to friends and family, 58% went to others experiencing similar circumstances, 60% read articles in popular magazines, 50% read scientific journals, 42% read a book, 24% referenced the internet, 15% contacted a support group, 8% contacted a therapist, 8% contacted a minister or

other spiritual leader, and 16% asked an alternative medicine practitioner about infertility (as cited in Wishmann, 2007, p. 84).

Identified tasks of the counselor working with infertile couples include helping clients cope and move past their grief, offer interventions to enhance the couple's resiliency, exploring alternate pathways to having family (Shapiro, 2008, p. 142), building communication (Hart, 2002), develop interventions that maintain their quality of life and buffer the effects of stress (de Ridder & Schreurs, 2001), move from denial to acceptance, help juggle the feelings of burden and helplessness with active hope and investment in other areas of life (Benyamini, 2003), and finally one of the most crucial counselor tasks is normalizing their strong reactions to infertility (Mahlstedt, McDuff, & Bernstein, 1987). These tasks have been met in individual and couples counseling, support groups, telephone counseling, the Internet, and educational group sessions.

More recent options for people working through infertility include telephone sessions and searching the Internet. Telephone counseling can be helpful especially for educational information (Boivin & Kentenich, 2002) but cannot replace traditional counseling when working through difficult emotional issues (Wischmann, 2007, p.83). This finding was confirmed by Reese, Conoley, & Brossart (2002) when they found "31% of respondents who described feeling very poor reported improvement after telephone counseling, compared to 54% improvement found in face to face counseling" (as cited in Wischmann, 2007, p. 85). The Internet is also becoming more accessible and easy to use for people as a quick place to get information. There are a couple concerns regarding Internet use. One concern noted by Huang, Discepola, Al-Fozan, & Tulandi (2005) was a lack of thoroughness on the fertility clinic websites; often the contents were difficult to determine if credible or if they were advertisements. Another concern is the

correlation with Internet use and increased feelings of depression and lack of support networks (Epstein, Rosenberg, Grant, & Hemenway, 2002). It seems the Internet can be useful for gathering educational information and as one source of support, but it is not recommended to completely replace face-to-face support.

Even though counseling for infertility is not utilized as much as preferred, it seems to be something that is appreciated in retrospect. Monach (2003) did a study and found 72% of participants were very satisfied or satisfied with their counseling services during their period of infertility. Hammarberg, Astbury & Baker (2001) confirmed similar findings when women were asked years after the completion of their treatment if counseling should be an ongoing part of infertility treatment; 90% of the women said yes.

As noted above, all the above methods can be useful resources for a couple with infertility; however, the preferred method of receiving professional assistance is through face-to-face counseling. Many different approaches to treating infertility are found in the literature. Hammerli, Znoj & Barth (2009) did a meta-analysis investigating the efficacy of psychological interventions and found there to be too few studies available for any one treatment strategy to be able to confidently deduce efficacy of any particular intervention. However, they did state psychological interventions were found to improve some patients' chances of getting pregnant. I've grouped different approaches found in the literature into the following four categories: support/intervention groups, constructivist approaches, acceptance approaches, and integrative perspective.

Support/Intervention Groups. Support groups are one of the more common modalities for treatment of infertility. Wischmann (2007) believes counseling and support groups are very efficient and successful and should be offered at no cost to patients at all stages of treatment.

Support groups can vary in their goals, but research has shown groups to increase feelings of belonging, decrease depression, provide education, and help individuals find strength (Shapiro, 2008, p. 141). Schmidt et al. (2003) found that only 10% of women and 4% of men would participate in professionally led support groups (as cited in Wischmann, 2007). Even though there usually is not a significant difference in pregnancy rates between those who do attend support groups and those who do not, those who do attend support groups tend to find them 'helpful' or 'very helpful' (Wischmann, 2007, p.85).

Fertility Group Intervention utilizes structured group therapy for infertility based on Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) principles. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy focuses the treatment on thought content and helping create useful cognitive change (Kraaij, Garnefski, & Vlietstra, 2008). The goal is to increase the mental health of those suffering with infertility, not necessarily to increase the likelihood of pregnancy (Hammerli et al., 2008). These groups combine educational topics and support over 10 sessions. Relaxation exercises are viewed as integral to the approach. Therefore, each session begins with progressive muscle relaxation and guided imagery. The members give a quick update on their recent medical happenings and then the educational topic is presented with discussion. The topics included are emotion acceptance and tolerance, the wish for a child, coping, enjoy life, medical treatment, self-esteem, meaning, disappointment and hope, waiting, and we are the champions. The session then ends with a goaround discussion of the main points (Hammerli et al., 2008).

Constructivist Perspectives. This approach is suited for those trying to understand a changed life and re-shape a sense of identity (Bridges, 2005). It is called meaning reconstruction because it takes an active approach towards re-negotiation of life rather than a passive approach to going through the stages of grief and returning to normal functioning (Bridges, 2005). This

approach understands that for many people it was decided very early in their lives that pregnancy, birth and raising children was a part of their future; when infertility is established, it poses a major disruption in this engrained life story. Constructivists also believe realities are created by individuals, and it is crucial to understand the personal story of loss for each individual and couple instead of assume a universal reaction to the infertility experience (Bridges, 2005). Becker (1994) discussed how some individuals develop a new infertile selfidentity while they were going through this journey, which became a major part of their overall self-concept. The four main processes used to reconstruct meaning according to Gilles (2003) include: sense making, benefit finding, identity change, and continuing bonds (as cited in Bridges, 2003).

Autobiographical narrative therapy (Kirkman, 2003) adds a component that addresses some important barriers to the re-authoring of a narrative, such as the absence of a collective non-mother narrative and lack of meaningful alternative goals. According to this approach, it will not be possible to re-author a narrative until an alternative narrative becomes at least as attractive to the couple as the lost narrative. Also, if the lost narrative included goals perceived to be extremely important, such as mothering, it might be difficult to find goals as important to take its spot. Not only might it be difficult to replace the goal, it may be inadvisable to try to do so before the grief has been resolved from the lost narrative. Sensitivity to timing is required

Acceptance Perspectives. The next couple theoretical approaches have acceptance at the core of healing. Acceptance refers to being willing to admit a problem exists (Scheier & Carver, 2001). The Infertility Resilience Model (IRM) assesses couples' level of resilience specific to infertility. Resilience is contingent on modifying previous views of infertility and acceptance of the infertility situation (Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2009). External factors, such as the

social and family environments, are assessed for the social meanings ascribed to childlessness. Education can increase understanding of infertility implications and help eliminate the social stigma (Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2009). Pasch & Christensen (2000) stated the interventions of this model were recommended at the couple level and included techniques to increase acceptance, tolerance, and understanding of their spouse. Improved communication, open emotional sharing, and shared decision making responsibilities are also goals of IRM treatment (as cited in Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2009).

Another approach is known as Infertility as a Transformational Process. Gonzales (2000) believed mental health providers needed to respond to infertility by interpreting the experience from the infertile person's point of reference. A qualitative study on 25 infertile women revealed five themes: (1) failure to fulfill a societal norm, (2) assault on personal identity, (3) mourning, (4) transformation, and (5) restitution. Failure to fulfill a societal norm included feelings of inadequacy as a woman and loss of purpose in life. They also felt a loss of respect and recognition from others. Assault on personal identity included threats to the self-concept, and this was narrowed down to powerlessness (inability to exercise freedom of choice), stigma (negative interpretations of others' behaviors as cruel and insensitive), alienation (lack of unity with family and peers), and deprivation of ties of descent. Mourning addressed the cycle of hope and disappointment while becoming more aware of the pain associated with the loss. Transformation was when they start to face the reality of their situation that they may never bear a child. Finally, restitution was a process of acceptance and attempting to put the pain behind them. The women were clear this was not a process of resolution but more so of becoming disengaged from the fantasy of becoming a biological mother. Even if a realistic perspective has

been taken and acceptance is under way, it appears that the inability to bear a child always remains a part of the self-identity (Gonzalez, 2000).

The Adlerian perspective, as discussed in Born (1989), looks at neurosis as avoidance of the life tasks of love, friendship, work, self-concept, and spiritual search. The striving for social interest, or connection with the community, is foundational to a person's healthy adult functioning. This perspective applies how infertility affects these different life tasks. The life task of love is impacted through the strained relationship even the healthiest of marriages will experience. Friendship is impacted by increased isolation caused by not feeling normal when compared to peers moving on in family development by having children. Often friends will provide well-meaning but inappropriate advice, such as "just relax," creating a barrier in the friendship (Ridenour, Yorgason, & Peterson, 2009, p. 37). While the person is undergoing infertility treatment it usually becomes the primary issue of focus in the couple's life, and work development gets a back seat. "Infertile individuals often describe themselves as broken, inadequate, unworthy, and not whole" (Born, 1989, p. 453). As a result, they might question their relationship with the universe thinking something similar to, "What happened to the idea if you are a good person then good things happen to you?" Goals of counseling in this approach include assisting the couple in decision making and coping with the emotional impacts of infertility. The tasks of the counselor are to provide encouragement, help balance the need for control with the need to pursue medical treatments, and to help work through couple conflict (Born, 1989).

Integrative Perspective. This perspective was developed with the goals of enhancing the likelihood of conception, decreasing the likelihood of miscarriages, establishing a stronger marriage, and to cope with thoughts and emotions such as the belief that her stress levels kill her baby before it even gets a chance to implant (Katz, 2008). These goals are worked toward using

mind and body techniques, which research has demonstrated can increase chances of conception. Katz (2008) said it is critical that those working with infertility understand the body's responses to the stress and how it might trigger other underlying emotional concerns. An assessment tool was created using the acronym MINDFUL CARE, standing for: mental health and medical assessment, identity and ego functioning, nutrition and neurobiology, developmental issues and drug/alcohol issues, family of origin and functioning, unconscious issues, loving and levity of life engagement, conscious and complementary interventions such as EMDR and guided imagery, alternative interventions such as hypnosis and acupuncture, restoration of health and relationships, exercise and education. The acronym is used to assess current levels of functioning in each of these areas as this model values the disengagement from stress, restoring the physiologic processes, and regaining a sense of balance and control by finding an emotional/body balance (Katz, 2008). Interventions such as body scanning can bring insight into how the body is reacting to and holding the stress; then techniques such as guided imagery, progressive relaxation, meditation, breath work, and reiki are used to help visualize the body relaxing and allowing conception (Katz, 2008). More systematic studies are needed to confidently determine a causal link between pregnancy rates and psychological treatment.

METHODOLOGY

Introduction

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to uncover the understandings mental health counselors have of infertility and treatment for heterosexual women. Basic qualitative research does not discover meaning as much as it constructs meaning (Merriam, 2009). The current literature examines the experience of infertility for the clients, as well as some recommended treatment approaches. This research attempts to study a gap in literature regarding how general practitioners are approaching counseling sessions with clients facing infertility. A comprehensive understanding of this topic is needed to raise awareness of infertility, and therefore improve counselor's ability to treat clients with infertility. The overarching research question guiding this study is, "How do counselors understand and address infertility issues in female heterosexual clients?" To more precisely address this question, the following five questions were used to guide the research:

- 1. How do licensed mental health counselors understand the infertility experience for the heterosexual woman client?
- 2. What is the counselor's experience of working with heterosexual women clients with infertility?
- **3.** What do licensed mental health counselors ascribe as the goal of mental health treatment of infertility?
- **4.** What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of appropriate mental health interventions for infertility?
- **5.** What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of harmful mental health interventions for infertility?

Rationale for qualitative research

Qualitative research wants to "understand how people interpret their experiences, how they construct their worlds, and what meanings they attribute to their experiences" (Merriam, 2009, p.23). This is interpretive, meaning there is no observed reality, but instead reality is socially constructed, and no two realities are the same (Merriam, 2009). The purpose of this approach is to describe, understand and interpret the meanings people have constructed. The emergent nature of basic interpretive research allows the researcher to take action on the participant's responses by following up with a related, non pre-determined question (Merriam, 2009). This study lends itself to the basic qualitative approach because the primary interest is the experience, meanings and understandings of the counselors with regard to the mental health aspects of infertility.

Research participants

This study included 10 participants, all of whom are Licensed Associate Professional Counselors (LAPCs), Licensed Professional Counselors (LPCs) or Licensed Professional Clinical Counselors (LPCCs) practicing in the state of North Dakota. Of the ten participants, eight of them were female, and nine of them were from urban areas of the state. See Table 3 for more demographic information on all ten participants.

Participant recruitment. Participant recruitment began after IRB approval was awarded (see Appendix A). This study included LAPCs, LPCs, and LPCCs who practiced in North Dakota. The sampling selection was purposive, selecting general practice counselors using the list of licensed counselors provided by the North Dakota Board of Counselor Examiners, which was available online to the public. The recruitment process utilized purposive sampling because

the selection criteria were pre-determined (Merriam, 2009). Psychologists, psychiatrists, social workers, and marriage and family therapists were not eligible to participate in this study.

This study was conducted in a rural Midwest state that had very few specialists and many generalists. The researcher wanted to better understand the experience a client with infertility would have going to a general practice counselor from the counselor's point of view. One way to get this information was by interviewing general practice counselors without providing additional criteria for inclusion. In order to increase the likelihood of obtaining in-depth interviews, selection began with counselors who were acquainted with the researcher but did not have a dual relationship or conflict of interest. The goal of participant recruitment was to conduct face-to-face interviews (Irvine, Drew, & Sainsbury, 2013). Therefore, the researcher consulted the North Dakota Board of Counselor Examiners licensed counselor list and began recruitment with those located within a 50-mile radius. The researcher then reached out to potential participants with a phone call. If the potential participant answered, the researcher followed the oral script for participant recruitment (see Appendix B). If the potential participant did not answer, the researcher left a voicemail stating the first two paragraphs of the oral script and included contact information for the potential participant to call back if interested in the study.

The researcher began interviewing 10 participants who were all recruited during a specified recruitment period. After interviewing the initial 10 participants it was determined from the interview process that data saturation had occurred. Therefore, adequacy of sampling was considered complete, which according to Merriam (2009) occurs when "you realize no new information, insights, or understandings are forthcoming" (p. 183).

When the counselor agreed to be a part of the study, the researcher emailed the participant the informed consent (see Appendix C) and demographic form (see Appendix D) to

be completed. The participants either emailed the forms back or had them completed prior to the face-to-face interview. The participant and researcher set up a mutually convenient time and location to meet for the interview. The preferred location for the interview was the participant's counseling office for privacy and confidentiality. When this option was not available, the researcher's office was utilized. Although in-person interviews were preferred, the researcher completed telephone interviews when face-to-face was not possible (Irvine et al., 2013). When telephone interviews were conducted, privacy was still ensured as the researcher conducted interviews from her office. Prior to the interview, the informed consent was reviewed with every participant. Of the ten participants, five interviewed in person and the remaining five interviewed via telephone to accommodate distance and/or childcare needs. Of the interviews held in person, three of them were held at the participant's workplace and two of them were held in the researcher's home depending on the participant's request. All interviews followed a question guide (see Appendix E). However, the researcher could incorporate additional questions as the interview evolved.

Participant information. Demographic information was gathered using the demographic form completed prior to the interview (see Appendix D). Information on the demographic form included name, business address, phone number, email, type of license, years practicing, education level, type of practice, specializations, theoretical orientation, number of clients seen weekly, history of seeing clients with infertility, received training/CEUs in infertility, and identification of any fertility clinics in the community serving the mental health needs for patients experiencing infertility. Demographic forms were securely stored, along with the informed consent forms and audiotapes. These items were stored separately from the

transcriptions and field notes, which had no identifying information but instead utilized a numbering system to ensure participant privacy.

Research design

Basic qualitative research involves interviewing the participants to construct their experiences and understandings (Merriam, 2009). This study had five guiding questions designed to describe the overarching research question of, "How do counselors understand and address infertility issues in female heterosexual clients?" Ten open-ended interview questions were used to facilitate the participant's reconstruction of his or her experience (Seidman, 2006) with the topic of mental health aspects of infertility. Because of the emergent nature of qualitative research, the researcher was able to follow up with related but not predetermined questions in each interview. Below is the list of interview questions used to guide the interview.

- 1. What assumptions or beliefs do you have about the issue of infertility?
- A heterosexual woman client of yours says she has just been diagnosed with infertility.
 Please describe to me your understanding of what her experience with that could entail.
- 3. Can you give me a tour of a session with a client (heterosexual woman) that has infertility? (or potential client)
- 4. How prepared do you feel to successfully counsel a heterosexual woman with infertility?
- 5. How comfortable do you feel to counsel a heterosexual woman with infertility?
 - a. What experiences have you had to increase your comfort level?
 - b. What experiences have you had to increase discomfort?
- 6. What would you ascribe as the goal of your counseling session with a heterosexual woman with infertility?

- 7. What are your perceptions of the primary treatment concerns for a heterosexual woman with infertility?
- 8. What are your perceptions of appropriate treatment approaches to address those concerns?
- 9. What would harmful treatment look like or entail?
- 10. Is there anything else on your mind regarding the experience of infertility for your clients or your treatment with the client?

Data collection

Based on the qualitative nature of this study, interviews were used to gather information from the participants. An interview was the chosen data collection method because it allowed the participant to tell his or her story. Seidman (2006) described interviews as a meaning-making exercise designed to understand the lived experience of another with the assumption that his or her story influences his or her behaviors. The interviews ranged from 45 to 90 minutes and were done in person at the researcher's home office, at the participant's office, or over the telephone. The interviews were audio taped using two different recorders. The researcher had a notepad with the interview questions provided. Because of the emergent nature of the research design, the researcher had flexibility to ask additional probing questions based off the participant's responses. After the interview, the researcher left contact information with the participant and asked permission to do a follow-up interview with the participant if needed. No follow-up interviews were held. Permission was also sought to send the transcripts to the participant for review via email. All ten participants agreed to review the transcripts. A thank you note with a ten dollar gift card was given to the participant at this time in appreciation of their contribution to

the study. Permission was received to mail the gift card to the participants who interviewed over the telephone.

Once the interview was complete, it was transcribed using Microsoft Word software. Each interview was transcribed verbatim and in its entirety. Room was left in the margins of the transcriptions for the researcher to provide process notes on the right hand side. Each line was numbered to easily reference the statements during analysis. The participant's name was not used anywhere on the transcripts or field notes. The demographic form and informed consent form, which were secured throughout the study, were the only documents containing participant information. All other documents including the interview notes, transcription, and research paper used the participant's assigned number.

Data analysis

Data analysis was driven by the basic interpretive qualitative methodology. Data management consisted of filing the demographic and consent forms, labeling audiotapes, and organizing transcriptions (Seidman, 2006).

The primary focus of the analysis was to pull together pieces of data to form themes of experiences, thoughts, or feelings. According to Seidman (2006), the first step in breaking down the interview is to read the transcript and mark with brackets the passages that are meaningful. The researcher completed this analysis step by first reading each transcript in full, then going over each transcript a second time using a highlighter to mark the meaningful word phrases, erring on the side of inclusion. A table was then created in Microsoft Word to manage the data. The table had seven columns: the participant number, the data number, the word phrase, context, code, sub-code, and notes.

Table 1.Data Analysis Example

| | | sis Example | 0 1 | a a | D'1 '1 | |
|----|-----|--|--------------------------|-------------------------|------------|--|
| 10 | 16a | I guess I don't have a whole lot of assumptions you know I think it is just a biological each persons body is created differently for some couples it may be what happens in combination of the two of them so I don't as far as if they've done anything or the universe or God is punishing them I don't have any of those kinds of thoughts or beliefs | Counselor assumptions | Cause of infertility | Biological | |
| 10 | 16b | I guess I don't have a whole lot of assumptions you know I think it is just a biological each persons body is created differently for some couples it may be what happens in combination of the two of them so I don't as far as if they've done anything or the universe or God is punishing them I don't have any of those kinds of thoughts or beliefs (both laugh) | Counselor Assumptions | Cause of infertility | medical | |

Table 1.Data Analysis Example (continued)

| 10 | 16c | I guess I don't have a | Counselor | Cause of | Not self | |
|----|-----|---------------------------------|-------------|-------------|----------|--|
| | | whole lot of | Assumptions | infertility | induced | |
| | | assumptions you know | | | | |
| | | I think it is just a | | | | |
| | | biological each persons | | | | |
| | | body is created | | | | |
| | | differently for some | | | | |
| | | couples it may be what | | | | |
| | | happens in combination | | | | |
| | | of the two of them so I | | | | |
| | | don't as far as if | | | | |
| | | they've done anything | | | | |
| | | or the universe or God | | | | |
| | | is punishing them I | | | | |
| | | don't have any of those | | | | |
| | | kinds of thoughts or | | | | |
| | | beliefs (both laugh) | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Each participant was assigned a participant number, which was used as an identifier instead of the participant's name. This number allowed the researcher to track the transcript from which the word phrase was pulled. Each response the participant gave throughout the interview was numbered, and then every meaningful phrase within that response was assigned a letter (i.e. 1a, 1b, 1c). This made up the second column called data number. The word phrase column included each individual participant response with everything lined out except the identified meaningful word phrase. The context column was a broad description of the word phrase, which helped in the sort process to clump like statements together. The code column included the meaningful phrase's assigned code and the sub-code column was if the code could be broken down into something more specific. For example, the context might be 'client experience,' a code might have been 'cognitive distortion,' and the sub-code might have been 'defective.' The notes column is where the word phrase was either broken down even further than the sub-code, or when the researcher incorporated any notes that might have been useful while analyzing the data.

After completing analysis of six of the ten transcripts, the researcher went through the data and compiled an alphabetical master code list. While engaging in this process, the researcher went through previously coded word phrases and unified codes that meant the same thing but were worded slightly differently (i.e. thought distortions were all changed to cognitive distortions). Once the data from the first six transcripts were unified, the remaining four transcripts were coded using the same language. After data from all ten transcripts were entered, and codes were assigned, the researcher was able to use the sort function in the Microsoft Word software. The researcher sorted column 4 first, then 5, and then 6. By sorting, the table the codes were then clumped together so the researcher could view the data by looking at the significance of each code and forming themes (Seidman, 2006). The following table demonstrates a sample of the sorted table.

| Sori | soriea Daia Analysis Example | | | | | |
|------|------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|--|
| 4 | 9d | Well I imagine why | Client | Social | Comparison | |
| | | can't I get pregnant, | experience | experience | to Others | |
| | | what's wrong with | | | | |
| | | me, what's wrong | | | | |
| | | with my spouse or | | | | |
| | | partner, whats | | | | |
| | | stopping this you | | | | |
| | | know, I imagine | | | | |
| | | sometimes you kindof | | | | |
| | | hear women who are | | | | |
| | | wishing they were | | | | |
| | | pregnant and then they | | | | |
| | | witness someone else | | | | |
| | | who is pregnant and | | | | |
| | | so will wind up why | | | | |
| | | did they get to be | | | | |
| | | pregnant and I don't | | | | |
| | | or you know | | | | |

Table 2.Sorted Data Analysis Example

Table 2.

| Sorted Data A | nalvsis | Example | (continued) |
|---------------|---------|---------|-------------|
| | ~ | 1 | () |

| | | a Analysis Example (cont | / | ~ • • | ~ · | 1 |
|---|-----|--|----------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|---|
| 5 | 15 | Well even to the degree that in society when you hear about moms that are addicted to drugs and abuse kids and everything else and trying to justify why they are good people that cant have kids while the not so good people or bad people have kids all the time. Try to rationalize that and figure out what that is and what its about | Client experience | Social experience | Comparison to others | |
| 3 | 12c | : Um I would think why is this happening to me what's wrong with me that this happens-why is it happening to me and not somebody else um there might be some of that feeling upset about it and trying to think of things they can do to fix it or figure out options um I don't know trying to kind of reason through it eventually once the shock wears off I would think they would move from a more emotional place to a logical place to try to figure out what route to take | Client experience | Social experience | Comparison to others | |

Once the themes were created, the analysis process included substantiating the themes with direct quotes from the transcriptions. The researcher addressed "how the research questions are answered by the findings, how the findings relate to the literature, and how the findings relate to the researcher's going-in assumptions" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008, p. 76).

Trustworthiness

As a researcher, it is important to confirm the concluded descriptions and analysis accurately represent the reality of the participants (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008). This will be demonstrated in the discussions on creditability and dependability.

Credibility. Several methods were in place in order to ensure the participants' perceptions and the researcher's interpretations match (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008). First, the researcher kept brief reflective field notes during and after each interview to monitor subjectivity and assumptions. Second, the researcher engaged in member checks by emailing each participant her transcribed interview so she could test the validity. Last, the researcher used peer debriefing by discussing the reflective field notes with a peer reviewer to facilitate examination of researcher assumptions (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008). Together, the reviewer and researcher engaged in a search of the transcriptions for rival explanations of the researcher assumptions (Patton, 2002). This was done by thinking of logical alternatives to the findings and checking if they could be supported by the data (Patton, 2002). These cases might lead the researcher to broaden the interpretation, change the interpretation, or doubt the interpretation all together (Patton, 2002). For example, one assumption was that counselors would focus on depression symptoms in clients presenting with infertility. After looking for a rival explanation such as maybe the depression symptoms were put aside to focus on infertility, nothing was found to dispute this assumption, and the interpretation was left unchanged.

Dependability. In order to ensure that one can "track the processes and procedures used to collect and interpret data" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2008, p. 78) the researcher documented an explanation of how the data was collected and analyzed, including documentation of procedures, interview notes and the field notes. Next, two peer reviewers, one of whom engaged in the search for rival explanations, examined the interview transcriptions and data analysis. Feedback was given from the reviewers. The researcher and peer reviewers then came to a conclusion regarding accurate interpretation of data. The following section presents the ten themes found in the study.

PRESENTATION OF DATA

Introduction

The purpose of the research study was to uncover the understandings mental health counselors have of infertility, including the mental health treatment for heterosexual women. It is the intent that the information gathered in this study will raise awareness and improve counselors' ability to treat clients with infertility. The information presented in this section was gathered from ten participant interviews and resulted in ten major themes, which will address four of the five guiding questions. The fifth guiding question will be responded to after the presentation of the themes. The participants were asked the fifth guiding question directly in the interviews, which resulted in being able to address the question best with direct participant quotes. The ten themes are listed below in no particular order.

- Counselors believe support systems and strong primary relationships are essential for clients to move toward acceptance.
- Counselors believe infertility puts a strain on social supports and primary relationships.
- 3. Counselors frame the infertility experience similar to grief and loss.
- Counselors believe clients' cognitive distortions and social pressures exacerbate their suffering.
- 5. While counselors say they are comfortable counseling clients with infertility, they believe they need more training and would be open to receiving the training if there were more opportunities.
- 6. Some counselors appear to be unaware of personal assumptions and biases with regards to infertility.

- Counselors help clients with infertility by using basic counseling skills, their prescribed theory, and by establishing a trusting therapeutic relationship to help reach the goals of increased understanding and acceptance.
- 8. Counselors believe counseling in addition to medical treatment is essential.
- Counselors believe pursuing alternative options to starting a family can decrease suffering and aid acceptance of the infertility experience.
- 10. Counselors seem able to empathize with the infertility experience and establish helpful generic interventions but less able to tailor treatment specific to infertility.

Participants

The ten participants of this study were recruited using the contact information from the licensed counselor list found on the North Dakota Board of Counselor Examiners webpage. Even though this sample was not randomly selected, it is believed the findings provide an adequate representation of counselors state wide due to the consistency in responses. Demographic information of the participants can be found in Table 3 below.

Themes

Data will be presented by responding to each of the five guiding questions by describing each theme corresponding to the guiding question. Because the interviews were audiotaped, each theme can be further substantiated using direct quotes from the participants.

Table 3.Participant Demographic Information

| Participant | Gender | ND | Years of | Education | Type of | Theoretical |
|-------------|--------|---------|------------|-----------|------------|-------------|
| | | License | experience | level | practice | orientation |
| 1 | Female | LPCC | 15 | PsyD | Private | СВТ |
| 2 | Female | LAPC | 1 | Masters | Non-profit | undisclosed |
| 3 | Female | LPCC | 4.5 | Masters | Human | Eclectic |
| | | | | | Service | |
| | | | | | Agency | |
| 4 | Female | LAPC | 1 | Masters | Community | Eclectic |
| | | | | | Agency | |
| 5 | Male | LPCC | 19 | Masters | Private | Person |
| | | | | | | centered |
| 6 | Female | LPCC | 25 | Masters | Private | Neuro- |
| | | | | | | biological |
| 7 | Female | LPCC | 22 | PhD | Agency | Eclectic |
| 8 | Female | LPCC | 27 | Masters | Private | Eclectic |
| 9 | Male | LPCC | 19 | Masters | Private | Eclectic |
| 10 | Female | LPCC | 7 | Masters | Agency | Eclectic |

Guiding Question #1: How Do Licensed Mental Health Counselors Understand the Infertility Experience for the Heterosexual Woman Client?

In order to understand how mental health professionals would treat the presenting concern of infertility, it is necessary to look at what they understand about the issue. Counselors

were asked open-ended questions about what they know or think about the infertility experience of a heterosexual woman. These questions were designed to give the counselors the opportunity to free associate anything they could think of regarding how they conceptualize the concept of infertility. Table 4 below illustrates the four themes that address the question of how counselors understand the infertility experience in heterosexual women clients.

| Themes |
|---|
| Theme 1: Counselors believe support systems and strong |
| primary partner relationships are essential for clients to move |
| towards acceptance. |
| Theme 2: Counselors believe infertility puts a strain on social |
| supports and primary relationships. |
| Theme 3: Counselors frame the infertility experience similar to |
| grief and loss. |
| Theme 4: Counselors believe client's cognitive distortions and |
| social pressures exacerbate their suffering. |
| |
| |

Table 4.Guiding Ouestion #1 Table

Theme 1: Counselors believe support systems and strong primary relationships are essential for clients to move towards acceptance. When asked to describe the infertility experience for a heterosexual woman, many participants framed the experience as one that requires outside support in order to move through it in a positive direction. Only one of the ten participants spoke of infertility as an issue best dealt with alone. In fact, the common belief is that if a woman tries to cope with infertility by holding it in or being private, that behavior will lead to greater suffering and might initiate seeking support from a mental health professional. Participants also spoke of how seeking support from others would help them not only decrease suffering, but also help them accept their current life situation. Research supports the importance of support systems in helping clients move through infertility in a positive direction. Paul et al. (2010) suggests infertility can provide opportunities for personal growth. However, an important variable in a person's ability to achieve personal growth is availability and satisfaction with social support systems. Therefore, social supports appear not only to be important in minimizing distress, but also valuable in moving toward personal growth. The following quotations speak to theme one.

"Well I think the support if a person has friends and family, and they lean on those friends and family, I think that the experience can be a lot less difficult than if they just keep it to themselves."

"I think people are more susceptible to needing counseling support when they don't have outside support because I think a lot of people who have an open relationship with partners, parents and siblings and can openly communicate and get that support may not need the counseling support. They may not be stuck they may naturally be able to work through that process on their own, which is the hope for everybody, but that isn't the case so I think quite often people that do come in for counseling are those that don't have that level of support. That's why they need the counseling support."

Theme 2: Counselors believe infertility puts a strain on social supports and primary relationships. While participants spoke about the importance of their support networks in healing, they also believed support networks could be a double-edged sword, sometimes getting

strained and potentially causing more suffering to the woman. Literature supports the doubleedged sword nature of support systems (Revenson, et al., 1991). Participants referred to husbands, friends, and family members as support networks. At times the strain in relationships is caused by no fault of the support systems, but as a consequence of inadequate coping strategies to cope with the painful emotions of infertility. For example, if a support person is pregnant or has children, the woman suffering with infertility may not know how to cope with the emotions elicited and begin instead to isolate or become resentful. Other times, support systems might be doing something causing distress, not knowing the impact of their behaviors. Examples of hurtful behaviors from support networks include friends moving on with their lives not realizing how much pain the woman is still struggling with, or husbands using different coping techniques leaving the woman feeling unsupported and invalidated. And yet other participants spoke of relationship strain originating from behaviors of the woman dealing with infertility, including guilt and blame. Below are some examples of ways participants spoke about support systems being strained.

"It also can cause a lot of relationship issues if one partner is has been diagnosed to be more the issue with infertility. You know, the blaming piece or assuming the other person blames you, and the other person if they choose to stay in the relationship will also not be able to have a biological child, and all of that piece could entail the worry if that person wants to leave because of that."

"Which I think can bring up some anger and maybe not wanting to spend time with those friends because those feelings might be pretty strong at certain points, um, feelings of resentment and possibly isolation themselves from friends who have children."

"I try to help these clients focus and learn independent coping skills because they tend to turn to their spouse for support and coping and often get let down because their spouse can't understand."

"That I think is interesting because again I think at the beginning of things everybody is like ya and kind of rallying around them, but as everybody's lives go on its like ok really (laughing) you talk about it, and talk about it, talk about it like I've seen some of that, and then their experience is very negative and they probably feel even more isolated from other people."

"I've heard that anywhere they go all they see is that everybody else is pregnant, which is painful, so they isolate because its hard to be happy for them."

"Other people are accomplishing what they see as their lack of accomplishment, and they just want to isolate, or they are angry because their best friend is having a baby and they are not."

Theme 3: Counselors frame the infertility experience similar to grief and loss. Many participants framed infertility as a grief experience. If they did, they were asked if the grief was similar to grieving other losses or different. Responses often mimicked common grief milieu that women should work through the stages of grief toward accepting the infertility and close that chapter to move on with a new life. In this way participants view the grief experience like other grief experiences where once the client moves through the stages of grief they can put those emotions behind them and move on. However, research often contradicts this message saying women might be able to come to terms with infertility as their new life story, but many struggle to re-narrate a new life story that includes childlessness without feeling emptiness and grief (Miall, 1986). While participant responses mimic what one would expect to hear with grieving,

they seem to underestimate the essence of loss associated with infertility because of its close link to self worth and purpose for many women (Volgsten et al., 2010).

Some responses highlighted the differences of grieving infertility to include lack of societal support and not grieving an actual death. While some participants were on the fence about whether it was the same or different than other grief and loss experiences, most participants conceptualized infertility as a loss. Below are different responses highlighting the way participants linked infertility to grief.

"Which I think is important is really really key in any grief process. Is that ok this is the end of this chapter, but it doesn't have to be the end of all chapters, and some really great things can come out of this...and to help that person open their eyes to what those positive things might be um and to figure out what their life story is going to be from this point on."

"Individuals with infertility have very kinda complicated grief. Umm, like not really something they have a person to grieve over like the loss of a child, but they are not able to conceive a child so, until they come to that point of acceptance, they are always kind of in that state of loss...umm, or feeling lost"

"Any time you deviate from what you consider normal if there is such a thing and normal would be being able to have children. To me that is a sense of grief and loss because you are grieving a loss of normalcy. Its not normal in society unfortunately its not looked at as normal not being able to have kids is the abnormality so it's a change of what you expect out of your life; it's a change of how you perceive things. It certainly affects numerous things including self esteem and a bunch of different things so I guess for me it is kind of a grief and loss process"

Theme 4: Counselors believe clients' cognitive distortions and social pressures exacerbate their suffering. Common internal dialogues associated with infertility that participants usually found relatively easy to name included women feeling defective, feeling they are being punished, self-blame, and feeling worthless. Participants believe these thoughts were not helpful to the healing process, which the research supported (Becker, 1994). Participants were able to provide little elaboration into the origination of these types of thoughts but were quickly able to list them as common cognitive experiences for those dealing with infertility. One participant was able to identify a thought pattern of rigid thinking, which might hurt the progression of the healing process.

Other participants conceptualized certain cognitive experiences such as 'things may not work out' as harmful cognitive distortions, when the women living through infertility might conceptualize those same cognitive experiences as rational and not distortions. Counselors might be tempted to reframe certain realities of the client's experiences, but doing so might invalidate the realities of the client's cognitive experience.

Participants also mentioned societal pressures exacerbating the suffering of infertility because it provides an additional layer of alienation. Societal pressures could include indirect social norms or more direct verbal cues received from others such as, "So when are you going to finally have kids?" The literature also discussed the detriments of societal pressure (Miall, 1986). Below are some examples of responses from participants reflecting on the impact of cognitive distortions and societal pressures.

"I think a lot of thought distortions can go along with 'Is there something wrong with me?' 'Am I a bad person and this is why this is happening to me?' I think would be real common."

"They live with families they live in a community where people are getting pregnant and having babies. There are messages that a marriage is about starting a family so there really is no escaping it for them and then also the pressure you know people asking when are you going to have a baby and do they tell do they not tell."

"Well I think if a person is a very rigid thinker and their plan for themselves was to have four kids and now they have these infertility issues and not being able to have any children. They may be an all or none thinker a rigid thinker and it's just well that's that then. That cognitive process might hurt their progression."

Guiding Question #2: What is the Counselor's Experience of Working with Heterosexual Women Clients with Infertility?

The second guiding question aimed to describe the counselors' experience providing counseling services to clients presenting with infertility. Their experience is made up of their level of comfort, level of confidence, level of training, conflicts of interest, or personal biases they bring into the counseling room. Table 5 below illustrates the themes that respond to this question.

Table 5.

| Guiding Question #2 Table | Themes |
|----------------------------|--|
| What is the counselor's | Theme 5: While counselors say they are comfortable |
| experience of working with | counseling clients with infertility, they believe they need |
| heterosexual women | more training and would be open to receiving the training if |
| clients with infertility? | there were more opportunities. |
| | Theme 6: Some counselors appear to be unaware of personal |
| | assumptions and biases with regards to infertility |

Guiding Question #2 Table

Theme 5: While counselors say they are comfortable counseling clients with infertility, they believe they need more training and would be open to receiving the training if there were more opportunities. It was a very common response for participants to report feeling comfortable working with clients with infertility, but they would also report having no training on the topic and feeling they would benefit from more education. This response indicates counselors are basing their comfort level working with infertility on something other than their knowledge or competence on that issue. Kruger & Dunning (2009) look at the relationship between confidence and competence suggesting the more unskilled a person is in a task, the more unaware they are in their skill deficits. Therefore, increased perception of comfort does not necessarily mean increased competency but may instead indicate a greater need for skill development. Comfort level was increased based on a couple different factors.

Counselors feel more comfortable working through the familiar issues but less so working through the infertility. One participant demonstrated how working through familiar things such as cognitive distortions might be the way treatment will go when the more emotionally sensitive areas emerge by stating, "Well it is just a lot more difficult for me. I am ok with working through cognitive distortions and irrational thoughts but when somebody is having numerous miscarriages and dealing with that it seems to be more of a struggle because I just feel so bad." The same participant later said, "I think I feel pretty comfortable working with these clients."

Participants also correlated their level of comfort with behaviors of the client. For instance one client stated, "I get less comfortable working in couples counseling when the woman looks to the man for support and understanding and the man just has nothing to offer." Another participant also based comfort level on the client's behavior stating, "I think I feel pretty

comfortable with that because they were pretty, umm, pretty open about talking about things. Umm, now there might be other women who are more resentful to the fact that if they knew I have a child, you know, they would really, it would be difficulty for them to talk to me because they feel like, 'You don't know what I'm talking about.' I can't say I've had that experience so I felt pretty comfortable in that situation. Umm, I think if the couple is motivated and they were ready to take...if they were educated about it themselves. If they were actively speaking with doctors and taking the chance to work towards their goal of having a child rather than the blaming, and we've been trying and haven't been able to conceive, so we are done, you know."

Participants felt the greatest need for further education regarding the medical components of infertility treatment, even though they acknowledge the medical component is out of their scope of practice. According to Peterson et al. (2012), workshops have been created to facilitate the collaboration of medical and mental health professionals working with infertility. Efforts should continue to be made to meet the educational needs and desires of counselors by providing training in a convenient and useful way. Below are some examples of how participants discussed their desire for more training.

"I would like one that, um, is multidisciplinary. You know, where there is, um, an MD specialist in this area or maybe mental health counselors of some sort who have specialized in it."

"There isn't a lot out there either. You have to seek it and be looking for it." "Well I do somewhat [feel comfortable], but I never see any opportunities out there to get more training. It doesn't seem to be a topic that is covered in trainings." "It would be nice to have some trainings offered to better help clients deal with some of these issues."

Theme 6: Some counselors appear to be unaware of personal assumptions and biases with regards to infertility. When the participants were asked if they knew of any personal assumptions or biases they had about infertility, the answer was something along the lines of "No, none that I know of," with all ten participants. This indicates either the participants were currently unaware of any preconceived ideas about infertility they would bring into the counseling room, or they were too uncomfortable to disclose personal biases about the topic. It does not necessarily mean the participants actually have no personal assumptions or biases about infertility, as later responses in the interview usually illustrated such biases. As with any topic, it is important for counselors to gain self awareness into their personal assumptions or biases they have or they could negatively impact the counseling process (Brennan, 2013; Brown, 2004).

One assumption mentioned in the interviews was, "Encourage them that there is a time that it will happen one way or another if you are just open to that." This idea might be presented to try to facilitate the client to move toward letting go of control and trusting the process. However, not only does it instill a guarantee that can't be guaranteed, it also insinuates if it doesn't happen it is because the client wasn't open to it. This idea might be a commonly held belief of people who have had children very easily without complication and who have never faced the reality they might not be able to have a child. Many people struggling with infertility are also struggling with the reality it might not ever happen for them (Gonzales, 2000). No matter what they do there is no guarantee.

Another commonly held misconception is that people don't get pregnant because they are stressing out or worrying too much, and if they would not stress out and just relax it would probably happen. Bringing this assumption into the counseling room could very possibly

increase self-blame for any failed attempts at pregnancy. This assumption is illustrated in the following quotation.

"I could say that I witness they always say that people are trying, trying, trying, and they can't get pregnant, can't get pregnant, and then they start to try doing all this other stuff to try to get pregnant. Once they've stopped putting all that effort in, a lot of times I see relatives getting pregnant at that point so there is that part of me that says well don't stress yourself out, you know what I mean, because that is probably leading to a lack of whatever it is you are hoping for"

Another participant presented with a bias that people going through infertility should have no problem being around other people who have kids. This participant stated, "Just because they don't have kids doesn't mean that they can't be around those that have kids and that I don't belong with people that have kids because I'm different I'm strange, that kind of thing." The research stated it is very common for women going through infertility to isolate and struggle being around people with kids (Brown, 2004). If a client presents with this concern to a counselor who holds this bias, it would be possible to increase the shame experience of the client without acknowledging the impact of the bias.

Another commonly held assumption is that once people quit infertility treatment and adopt a child they will conceive. Again, this belief could be detrimental to the counseling process if stated in the counseling room to a client actively engaging in infertility treatments. One participant reflected on this assumption by stating, "There is the possibility because we all have heard stories about people who have adopted because they thought were infertile and then conceived a child."

Guiding question #3: What do licensed mental health counselors ascribe as the goal of mental health treatment of infertility?

The third guiding question looks at what counselors hope to accomplish in their treatment of infertility. A common response was to let the client take the lead in determining goals of mental health treatment.

Table 6.Guiding Question #3 Table

| Guiding Question #5 Tuble | Themes | |
|------------------------------|---|--|
| What do licensed mental | Theme 7: Counselors help clients with infertility by using basic | |
| health counselors ascribe | counseling skills, their prescribed theory, and by establishing a | |
| as the goal of mental health | trusting therapeutic relationship to help reach the goals of | |
| treatment of infertility? | increased understanding and acceptance. | |

Theme 7: Counselors help clients with infertility by using basic counseling skills, their prescribed theory, and by establishing a trusting therapeutic relationship to help reach the goals of increased understanding and acceptance. The participants often stated their counseling approach with infertility clients would be the same as any other counseling session they would facilitate. Many stated they would build rapport with the client by using their basic counseling skills. They also stated they would fall back on their prescribed theory which was often Person Centered Approach and Cognitive Behavioral Therapy.

"Cognitive behavioral therapy, in terms of helping them get to their core assumptions, and identifying their thinking patterns that maybe causing problems in how they feel about themselves or their partner." "I do tend to fall back on CBT quite a lot, so a lot of going through the thought process of what are you thinking about yourself, how can we identify if this is good or not, and how can we identify a better way for you to go through your day? Then a lot of just empathizing and probably spending a lot of time at the beginning on the rapport. I imagine it's a really private issue, I don't imagine those people want to just start telling you everything that has ever happened to them in terms of their infertility."

The participants believed the goal of mental health treatment should be for the client to reach an increased understanding and acceptance of their situation. The research confirmed these goals for the treatment of infertility. For instance, Paul et al. (2010) agrees with the importance of clients reaching an understanding of their experience because without an explanation individuals often reach lesser degrees of personal growth, since she instead spends time trying to search for reasons which often leads to self blame and alienation. Hammerli et al. (2008) also discussed goals of mental health treatment being more to lessen the negative impacts of infertility than to increase the likelihood of getting pregnant. Below are quotations that highlight the participants stated goals of mental health treatment of infertility for the heterosexual woman client.

"I think, you know, a lot of it would be helping them clarify for themselves their thinking about it, their beliefs, being able to identify the feelings, and getting them to a place where they feel they understand themselves in the process."

"So to me it's a matter of coming to a level of acceptance as much as I can of, 'This is just a fact of my life,' and then I go from there."

Guiding question #4: What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of appropriate mental health interventions for infertility?

Participants were asked what they felt would be helpful mental health treatment interventions for women with infertility-related concerns. It was common for participants to discuss medical treatment and alternative options for achieving a family. These themes will be discussed further below.

| Guiding Question #4 Table | 1 |
|-----------------------------|--|
| Guiding Question 4 | Themes |
| What are licensed mental | Theme 8: Counselors believe counseling in addition to |
| health counselors' | medical treatment is essential. |
| perceptions of appropriate | Theme 9: Counselors believe pursuing alternative options to |
| mental health interventions | starting a family can decrease suffering and aid acceptance |
| for infertility? | of the infertility experience. |
| | Theme 10: Counselors seem able to empathize with the |
| | infertility experience and establish helpful generic |
| | interventions; but less able to tailor treatment specific to |
| | infertility. |
| | |
| | |

Table 7.Guiding Question #4 Table

Theme 8: Counselors believe counseling in addition to medical treatment is

essential. Many participants acknowledged the heavy medical component to infertility. Participants seemed to understand their role as one who refers any questions regarding attempts to get pregnant to medical specialists; at the same time, participants felt it was important as the mental health provider to have a better understanding of the different medical procedures involved. Only one participant discussed how clients sometimes get so involved with the daunting medical procedures they often overlook any emotional components to infertility stating, "The infertility experience gets so physical they don't realize the emotional impact until later with the technology." In the end, participants understood there is an important place for both mental health and medical professionals when helping clients through infertility. Below are some quotations highlighting their perceived importance of interdisciplinary care, which research could support (Hart, 2002).

"I guess I would just say they should see a fertility specialist and follow their advice."

"I'm a holistic thinker so I think it's a mental, emotional, physical experience."

"You have to take time to go down the road to educate on the physical components and connect them up with people that can help them on the physical side and still support them emotionally to find that resolution."

Theme 9: Counselors believe pursuing alternative options to starting a family can decrease suffering and aid acceptance of the infertility experience. When participants were asked about helpful treatment interventions for infertility many responses included exploring alternative options for having a family. The literature also discussed alternative options for obtaining a family. It was noted, though, that there are ways to incorporate this into treatment in a helpful way and ways that would be hurtful to treatment progress depending on variables such as timing and exploring related issues (Peterson et al., 2012). Specific related issues include third party conception, unusual family composition, fears the biological parents will form a stronger bond with the child, and processing how to explain the nature of conception with the child (Peterson et al., 2012). There are no scripts regarding how to share information with future

children, but according to Peterson et al. (2012), it is important for counselors to check in with clients about these specific infertility concerns. While many participants were easily able to list some alternative options, none of them brought up any of the above listed related issues, nor did they mention how they need to be sensitive to where the clients are at in their infertility journey. Clients just starting their doctoring process might not find discussing alternative options very helpful, whereas clients getting ready to terminate medical services might be more ready to explore these options. Participants seemed to use exploring alternative options as an intervention earlier in the process of treatment as one participant stated, "After the faulty thoughts are examined then we look at what their alternative options are."

Participants also seemed to minimize the grief a client might be facing by believing if they pursued alternative options then the grief feelings should be resolved. The risk in presenting this mentality to the clients, especially early in the treatment process, is the clients might feel invalidated in the level of despair they might be feeling. Below are some quotes where participants discussed alternative options in such a way the client might interpret as, 'You can't have a biological child, that's ok, just adopt.' Participants also never discussed how difficult foster parenting may be and how hard the adoption process may be, all things counselors need to consider when presenting these options to clients.

"The one good thing about infertility is while someone may be mourning the possibility of having a biological child, there are still options for family. So if a person is grieving the idea of having a family there is still hope for family through other options." "Ya and there are many options. The obvious one is adoption or foster care, but others do other things. They may work in a daycare center. Some get involved in church work, they may teach Sunday school, work in the nursery, or they can offer themselves as daycare

and babysitting for other people and so they feel they invest into people's lives and of course the parents of the children as well."

Theme 10: Counselors seem able to empathize with the infertility experience and establish helpful generic interventions but less able to tailor treatment specific to infertility. When participants were asked about specific interventions they use in their counseling sessions to work through infertility they often gave vague answers that could be used when working with any topic. It appears the participants had more confidence talking about the experience of infertility than they did talking about how to treat the mental health consequences of it. Below are some quotations that demonstrate the tendency to talk vaguely about interventions.

"Helping clients see themselves in a more positive way often through journaling."

"Definitely her self image and looking at faulty thoughts. Trying to help her have a more positive outlook on herself and her situation."

"My goal would probably be whatever their goal would be, but, umm, I'm I think probably a lot of support. Umm, maybe some skills helping them build skills to communicate how they are feeling. The feelings of loss or the things we talked about right away that they may be feeling."

"I don't think with infertility it would be any different than any other issue somebody would bring into the office."

"Well there would be some exploration through talk therapy. There would also be some exercises I would give them like some paper and pencil types of things they can take home to get them to notice certain things or look at certain things in a different way. Um, so I guess I utilize homework to a certain degree. I utilize activities within the session to

get them to explore even different ways. Um sometimes I have people that use drawings and things such as that, again I utilize a bunch of different ways or techniques."

The literature confirmed the importance of incorporating infertility specific interventions to the counseling sessions. According to Vizheh et al. (2013), infertility specific counseling should begin with a definition of infertility, and other psychoeducation such as etiology, prevalence, impact on personal life, and sexual satisfaction. Specific interventions geared toward infertility could also include coping with the two-week wait period and repeated semen analysis (Peterson et al., 2012), body scanning, guided imagery, progressive muscle relaxation, and meditation (Katz, 2008). None of the above were mentioned anywhere in the data collection.

Another important discussion is the decision to terminate medical attempts to conceive (Blyth, 2012; Peterson et al., 2012). While a few participants brought the issue of terminating medical treatment up in their interview, most then referred that conversation to be held in the medical doctor's office and overlooked the important emotional component. Terminating medical treatment is an important phase for counseling because up until this phase counselors are likely working toward things like fostering hope, stress management and coping, and maneuvering through the medical procedures. Then counselors shift toward processing the hard decision of when to quit trying. This decision is becoming increasingly difficult due to all the new technological advancements (Hart, 2002). Once the decision to quit trying is made, then counselors work toward re-narrating the client's future story (Bridges, 2005). Once counselors have worked with the clients through the previous phases they can begin to explore alternative options (Hart, 2002). None of the participants discussed the importance of timing when discussing terminating medical treatments and making sure not to process it too early. Also never

mentioned was the sequential nature of the infertility experience and coordinating mental health services; instead it appeared exploring alternative options to starting a family would be something that would occur early on in the treatment before the clients have even decided to stop with the medical treatments.

Peterson et al. (2012) also discussed the usefulness of certain assessment measures such as the Positive Reappraisal Coping Intervention, the FertiQoL, and the SCREENIVF; it is of note that no participant mentioned any tools or instruments as a possible intervention. The SCREENIVF is an instrument designed to identify patients who would benefit from mental health services. If they have a positive pre-medical treatment score, they are more likely to experience higher levels of distress throughout their medical treatments. The Fertility Quality of Life Tool (FertiQoL) is designed to assess the fertility problem's impact on different life domains including personal, social, and relational. The Positive Reappraisal Coping Intervention was designed to assist in coping with the two-week waiting period. Blyth (2012) went on to list other topics of importance to include potential for multiple pregnancies, sexual problems, and anxiety of a future pregnancy.

Guiding question #5: What are licensed mental health counselors' perceptions of harmful mental health interventions for infertility?

Once the participant discussed what they would do in the counseling sessions, they were asked what they would make sure not to do. Many participants stated they would not give the client advice, they would not push them beyond where the client is comfortable, they would not act like a medical doctor, they would not place blame, nor would they minimize the problem. Below are examples of what the participants believe would be harmful to incorporate into mental health treatment of infertility.

"Um, well I'm thinking of acting as if I know what they need, or minimizing the problem. Um, discounting their feelings, supporting beliefs that are really detrimental to them, things along those lines."

"I think its important not to push them too early."

"I would definitely not point blame on the client, or ask if they've done this or tried that to get pregnant. I also wouldn't give any medical advice since I'm not a doctor I would constantly refer them to ask their physician."

"Well I don't really think I would ask, I would make them feel they aren't doing all they can do as far as medically because that's not really my place to decide what they are supposed to be doing, like have you talked to your doctor about this and this and this, umm, because I think they would feel more blamed and shameful than anything. And I wouldn't exclude the partner from the discussion especially if it was couples counseling and just focused on her because I think that many clinicians do. Ummm. and I don't think that if sometimes, like especially with you know some religions and cultures, I don't think I would discard the fact that this is not having a child is a bigger issue than what they feel it is, like I would make them feel like oh its not that big of a deal just because you can't have a child just because you are this culture you know I mean that is just or just to put that off or minimize that.

"Telling them what to do in any capacity. Umm, putting judgments on them like if you did this then this would, or if you didn't do that then. You know you don't want to pull any of that kind of harsh words on them, and probably like I said do all the talking and trying to make it seem like you know what's happening or understanding them when you don't and can't understand their experience until they tell you."

The participants discussed infertility with varying degrees of familiarity and understanding. Some participants appeared more experienced working with clients through infertility, while others stated they are very unfamiliar with this topic. It was beneficial to this study to have the varying levels of experience in order to get a more comprehensive understanding of counselors' understandings of the mental health aspects of infertility. The next section will critically compare and contrast the participants' interview data to the current literature on infertility to analyze areas that might need additional training.

DISCUSSION

The following section discusses the researcher's additional thoughts and questions that emerged throughout the literature review, data collection and data analysis process. Completing this research helps confirm the need for specialized mental health treatment for infertility. By looking at counselors' perceptions of the mental health aspects of infertility in heterosexual women, important information was brought to light regarding the current mental health practices of infertility.

Summary of results

The ten emerging themes of this study address four of the five guiding questions posed by the researcher. The fifth guiding question explored what participants believed were hurtful mental health interventions for infertility. To respond to the fifth guiding question, different participant statements were provided, which were representative of the participants' responses as a whole. The below table summarizes the 10 themes and four guiding questions posed in this research study.

Table 8. *Themes*

| Guiding Question | Themes |
|---|---|
| How do licensed mental health counselors | Theme 1: Counselors believe support |
| understand the infertility experience for the | systems and strong primary partner |
| heterosexual woman client? | relationships are essential for clients to move |
| | toward acceptance. |
| | Theme 2: Counselors believe infertility puts |
| | a strain on social supports and primary |
| | relationships. |

Table 8. *Themes* (continued)

| Themes (continued) | 1 |
|--|---|
| | Theme 3: Counselors frame the infertility |
| | experience similar to grief and loss. |
| | Theme 4: Counselors believe clients' |
| | cognitive distortions and social pressures |
| | exacerbate their suffering. |
| | |
| What is the counselors' experience of | Theme 5: While counselors say they are |
| working with heterosexual women clients | comfortable counseling clients with |
| with infertility? | infertility, they believe they need more |
| | training and would be open to receiving the |
| | training if there were more opportunities. |
| | Theme 6: Some counselors appear to be |
| | unaware of personal assumptions and biases |
| | with regards to infertility |
| What do licensed mental health counselors | Theme 7: Counselors help clients with |
| ascribe as the goal of mental health treatment | infertility by using basic counseling skills, |
| of infertility? | their prescribed theory, and by establishing a |
| | trusting therapeutic relationship to help reach |
| | the goals of increased understanding and |
| | acceptance. |
| | |

Table 8. *Themes* (continued)

| What are licensed mental health counselors' | Theme 8: Counselors believe counseling in |
|---|---|
| perceptions of appropriate mental health | addition to medical treatment is essential. |
| interventions for infertility? | Theme 9: Counselors believe pursuing |
| | alternative options to starting a family can |
| | decrease suffering and aid acceptance of the |
| | infertility experience. |
| | Theme 10: Counselors seem able to |
| | empathize with the infertility experience and |
| | establish helpful generic interventions but |
| | less able to tailor treatment specific to |
| | infertility. |

Overall, participants have a general understanding of the mental health consequences of infertility. The following sections address additional information that might be helpful for the counselor to be aware of in regards to the infertility experience and its mental health treatment. **Suggestions for being a more knowledgeable and proficient practitioner**

The below paragraphs highlight additional topics mental health professionals should consider when working with a client going through infertility. Some participants might have mentioned parts of the following ideas. However, some of the ideas were not discussed at all by any of the participants. The ten participants did not present any of the information below extensively enough to constitute a theme, suggesting there is incomplete training to be fully informed practitioners.

Infertility and society. Margaret Mead (1962) discussed how some women might be grieving carrying out the caretaker role more than grieving the actual child because it is so engrained into society, which makes it hard to differentiate the source of the suffering. Individuals going through infertility get direct and indirect messages from society frequently. These societal pressures influence the cognitive appraisal of the infertility experience and are correlated to increased distress level (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Society creates norms for various things, including parenting (Vizheh et al., 2013). Unfortunately, there is a stigma around childlessness, both voluntary and involuntary. If a woman chooses not to have children she might be judged as unhappily married, psychologically maladjusted, immature, selfish, lonely, and misguided (Miall, 1986). If a woman is unable biologically have a child, people might believe it is because she is doing something wrong (Shapiro, 2008). Either way, if a woman feels these societal messages it will not help her cause or her emotional healing. Part of successfully treating women with infertility is to normalize their feelings about these societal messages, not to minimize them or to reframe them. If a woman is expressing distress from messages received from society, it should be taken at face value and normalized instead of treated as a cognitive distortion (Mahlstedt et al., 1987)

Women might even receive messages from their political leaders that in-vitro is morally wrong. Constitutional Measure No. 1 (Senate Concurrent Resolution No. 4009, 2013 Session Laws, Ch. 519) on the current North Dakota ballot seeks to enact a new section to Article I of the North Dakota Constitution. If the measure passes November, 4th, 2014, then "The inalienable right to life of every human being at any stage of development must be recognized and protected" (https://vip.sos.nd.gov/PortalListDetails.aspx?ptlhPKID=4&ptlPKID=1#content-start). This measure has been controversial because of the unknown impacts it may have due to

the statement, "...at any stage of development." Some are concerned it will present complications with advanced directives; others are concerned in-vitro fertilization would no longer be available in the state of North Dakota. At this point it is not written in definite terms what the impact would be on future in-vitro fertilization cases. The opponents of this measure believe reproductive specialists would no longer practice in the state because the fear of criminal prosecution makes liability too high. The supporters of Measure No. 1 say the measure was created with the mission to protect against abortion only. People in society who believe in-vitro fertilization is morally wrong might say something to a woman with infertility such as, "So what are you going to do with any unused embryos, kill them?" Statements such as these are likely going to contribute to the client's negative experience with infertility. No participant in this study discussed these types of societal or political messages.

Many participants in this study referenced another socially held belief. One such participant stated, "We all have heard stories about people who have adopted because they thought were infertile and then conceived a child." The reason counselors need to challenge this potential biased belief system is because of the message it might be communicating to the client, mainly the reason they aren't able to have a child is because she is worrying about it too much. A counselor working with women going through infertility needs to be sensitive to the fact she is likely dealing with self-blame or guilt, and the counseling process should not exacerbate those feelings (Becker, 1994). Counselors need to take great care to make the counseling room a safe place for these women to explore whatever feelings they bring to the process. Along similar lines, it is commonly believed that if a woman is not able to have a child it's not that big of a deal because she can just adopt. This mentality minimizes some women's long-standing narrative of being pregnant and carrying a biological child. It also minimizes how difficult of a

process adoption has become. Adoption is not for everyone who wants to be a parent. It should be noted that no participant in the study discussed these potential implications with adoption.

Infertility and grief. Many participants discussed how infertility is a form of grief, possibly even complicated grief. Some participants discussed how grief with infertility is unlike other forms of grief because it lacks a concrete loss. Grieving fertility, however, has other differences as well. Infertility does not have definite time frames and seldom has an end point (Patterson, 1986). When a woman is grieving fertility it usually means grieving unfulfilled hopes, whereas other forms of grief typically involve memories. Because the grief is over unfulfilled hopes, it doesn't usually come with the type of social support death of a loved one would (Patterson, 1986). For some women, what they might be grieving most is their lost biological mother narrative, feeling a part of the adult world, and the perceived respect and recognition from others that comes with being a mother (Brown, 2004; Gonzales, 2000). Other forms of loss the participants did not mention include loss of self-esteem, security, control, and faith (Naish, 1994). It is important for counselors to understand each client's personal story of loss instead of assuming a universal grief reaction (Bridges, 2005).

When counselors work with grief the end goal is usually to reach acceptance (Menning, 1980). With infertility, it's important for the counselor to know that the woman's grief might not ever get resolved, but instead she moves toward disengaging from the fantasy of becoming a biological mother. Often the fantasy will never disappear, and the grief is never gone, but instead she works toward being able to engage in other life dreams (Gonzalez, 2000). Some clients might not be able to relate to discussion of acceptance and resolution of grief. Participants didn't speak about acceptance the way the literature did. Participants seemed to equate acceptance with resolution or finding peace with the loss, whereas the literature explained acceptance as being

willing to acknowledge a problem exists and then being able to disengage from the problem (Scheier & Carver, 2001).

Clients might pursue alternative means of obtaining a family. Counselors need to understand that the clients will likely love their adopted child, foster child, or child through surrogacy just as much as 'their own' child; however, when a person goes through this process it doesn't take away from the grief they are feeling over the loss of whatever idea they had in their minds for how they were going to start a family (Brown, 2004). Also, counselors need to acknowledge the power of language when discussing this issue with clients. An adopted child should not be referred to any differently than 'their own' child. 'Their own' is in quotes as often people don't know how to verbalize the difference between a child conceived in congruence with society's perceived natural way of conception versus another means. Often clients might also go through a period of redefining things in their own minds because they might have always assumed they were going to have a child the way society expects them to. A child brought into a family from another path should not be thought of as a second choice to starting a family. One participant stated, "Some will choose to adopt at that point so they cope by substituting in somebody else's children that they then begin to parent and raise as their own." People who have never come into close contact with infertility may have never had to challenge some of these messages present in society.

Infertility and depression. Domar et al. (2000) likened the level of distress that comes with infertility to cancer, HIV, and heart disease. Knowing this, counselors can expect the clients to present with depression symptomatology. While it might be helpful to treat some of the depression symptoms, it likely will not assist with the grief that comes with the infertility. Participants spoke the most of implementing cognitive behavioral therapy to work with the

clients' cognitive distortions. While this might be helpful if the client is presenting with cognitions such as, "This is happening to me because of something I did," it likely will not help with thoughts such as, "I may not ever be a mom, and then I don't know what I will do." The latter example is possibly a reality for the client and not a distortion and would require narrating a new life narrative. Also, if a client is experiencing sadness it might not be helpful to reframe the sadness as one might do with CBT for depression because this sadness is likely a normal grief reaction. The literature on mental health treatment has very little emphasis on treating cognitive distortions; even the cognitive behavioral therapy-based ones focused more at emotion tolerance (Hammerli et al., 2008). Additional research is needed in order to look deeper into the relationship between infertility and depression treatment. None of the participants discussed these differences in their interviews.

Infertility and relationship with self and partner. Participants discussed how women with infertility might experience negative thoughts about themselves such as, "There's something wrong with me." What participants didn't discuss is how some women with infertility often experience an extreme identity crisis and feel their identity changes as a result of infertility (Becker, 1994; Gonzales, 2000; Kirkman, 2001). Their identity was likely grounded in getting married, becoming pregnant, and then having children. The stronger their identity was grounded in such narratives, the more of a struggle infertility will be (Edelmann et al., 1994; Greil, 1991). If a woman never had biological children as part of her core identity then infertility would not be something that shakes her to her core. Also, the more her identity is grounded in being a biological mother, the less likely she has any non-mother alternative narrative to move forward with. She might feel inadequate as a woman and lack any alternative goals that compare in levels of importance to being a biological mother (Kirkman, 2003). If the alternative goal isn't as

meaningful or more to the woman's life purpose, then it will not provide a sufficient pull to the client and she will continue to feel a loss of purpose in her life (Edelmann et al., 1994). It is important for counselors to explore each client's personal identity narrative instead of assume infertility will affect each one the same.

Participants also discussed how marriage might be affected when infertility is presented but provided little detail about how or why the marriage would be impacted. One participant discussed how the woman might fear abandonment from her partner because she is feeling inadequate, unworthy, and unlovable. Berk and Shapiro (1984) also found the fragile sense of self combined with feeling personally responsible for the infertility could lead to fears of partner abandonment. Participants did not discuss how marital struggles often stem from differences in coping styles between the two individuals (Peterson et al., 2012). Research discussed how women have their tendencies in copies strategies, and men's tendencies are often different. When one partner utilizes emotional coping tendencies and the other partner utilizes task oriented coping tendencies, then marital struggle is more likely (Levin et al., 1997; Peterson et al., 2012). Participants often lacked details into the types of coping strategies used and how important it is for the relationship for each partner to understand and accept the differences in coping. It will also strain the relationship if the husband does not understand the depth of pain the woman is experiencing (Gibson & Myers, 2000). The counselor can provide relief by normalizing the strong reactions to infertility (Mahlstedt, et al., 1987).

Infertility and the future. Kirkman (2003) discussed how it is important to assess how important the mother narrative is to each person because if it is extremely important it might be hard or impossible to recreate a new narrative to take its place. If this is the case, it is inadvisable to try to work toward re-narrating a story before the client has been able to process the loss of the

old narrative. However, it is advised to take an active approach toward re-negotiation of life rather than getting stagnant in working through the stages of grief in order to return to normal functioning (Bridges, 2005). An added level of complexity in renegotiating a new narrative for a woman with infertility is maneuvering through how infertility has impacted her belief about her role in shaping her future (Brown, 2004). Infertility challenges one's beliefs about how much control one has in shaping their future (Katz, 2008). With infertility it doesn't matter how much one does to move toward a goal, sometimes the goal is just not going to work out. People often receive messages from early on in their life that if you work hard enough you can achieve your goals. Infertility is a hard exception to that rule. In moving forward, it can be helpful to reestablish a sense of control and freedom of choice in shaping their future (Katz, 2008), while simultaneously developing interventions that buffer the effects of stress (de Ridder & Schreurs, 2001).

Limitations

A potential limitation in this study was in the sampling method. The researcher was interested in understanding the experience of general practice counselors. This is due to North Dakota's lack of specialists, which increases the likelihood that someone seeking counseling for infertility would go to a generalist counselor. Because sampling does not exclude participants who do not "specialize" in infertility there were some cases that were not as information rich as others. This issue, however, also provided the researcher with valuable information regarding the level of experience working with infertility. This study's findings are not intended to be transferable to counselors specialized in infertility.

Also, there might be a potential limitation in the participation recruitment process. While these findings likely provide a rich description of counselors across the entire state, participants

were only found out of two main parts of the state, leaving one half of the state not represented at all by a participant. In addition, participants were mostly from the urban areas of the state, with only one of the ten representing rural demography. While the ratio of male to female participants is representative of the statewide population, it might be a limitation to not have male counselors more represented in the study.

The location of the interviews was not consistent with all the interviews, which might have had an impact on how much a participant was willing to share. Being over the phone versus face-to-face might also have impacted a participant's interview. In the future, it would be beneficial to broaden this study to include other states and more participants. It would also be interesting to replicate this study with mental health professionals who specialize in working with infertility. The following section discusses other potential areas for future research.

Recommendations for the future

Study clients' perceptions of mental health treatment. Gynecologists believed mental health treatment was more important to receive than clients did, and yet those who did receive treatment largely believed it to be beneficial (Boivin & Kentenich, 2002). Clients' perceptions of mental health treatment and their need for it might be the greatest barrier to seeking help. It would be helpful for mental health counselors to understand the clients' perspectives regarding the treatment process. There are studies available regarding the clients' experiences with infertility but not specific to the mental health treatment process. What do they find helpful or hurtful in the counseling room? Do they feel the counselors understand their experiences? Do they feel safer in the counseling room versus discussing this topic with friends? Why is there such a low participation rate in support groups (Wischmann, 2007)?

Study efficacy of clinical interventions, especially different studies confirming efficacy of a particular intervention. A challenge for counselors who desire to perform evidenced-based practice is a lack of valid and reliable research regarding intervention efficacy. The lack of literature regarding interventions makes it difficult to reach the desired outcome of confidently deducing efficacious treatment strategies (Jacobs, 2003; Hammerli et al., 2009). Vizheh et al. (2013) agreed there was a lack of research on effectiveness of treatment interventions, stating the research that was out there mostly focused on the mental-emotional characteristics of infertility such as depression and anxiety.

Develop, implement, and evaluate a training program for licensed mental health practitioners. This study highlights an important need for mental health professionals to receive training on the unique dynamics of infertility. The information accumulated from this project can assist in the formation of the program. Some examples of important aspects to incorporate in the training program include: psychoeducation, societal implications, appropriate timing of interventions, grief and infertility, finding purpose from re-authoring a new life story, and acceptance as it relates to infertility.

Advocacy for the mental health needs of infertility with medical professionals. This study discusses the importance of interdisciplinary care for clients with infertility. A first point of contact for women dealing with infertility is often a medical professional. The research provides convincing reasons to present to the physicians on the importance of collaborating with mental health professionals. Not only can physicians be made aware of different mental health services available, but they may also be interested in receiving education on the different screening assessments and mental health implications of infertility to ensure quality services are provided.

Conclusion

This research study is relevant because it not only highlights the unique needs of those seeking mental health services for infertility, it also confirms the importance for mental health counselors to be properly trained in order to provide the best services possible. This research project was possible because of the ten licensed counselors who were willing to share their experiences working with infertility. All ten of the participants stated they had very limited, or no, training in this area but are very interested in receiving training for this increasingly prevalent issue. Because these counselors lacked professional training on infertility one would expect their level of compassion and knowledge on the topic to mimic that of the general population. Unfortunately, research has not been done on the general population's understandings of infertility, so this comparison cannot be confirmed. Participants were able to label many different thoughts, feelings, and experiences a woman with infertility likely faces. However, the participants' interviews did not demonstrate understanding of the complex intricacies of infertility, which one might not expect to find without either personal experience or professional training with infertility. This study confirms the need for mental health professionals who specialize in treating infertility to provide trainings to others interested in working with this population in order to increase the likelihood that a woman with infertility will get the care she needs when seeking out mental health services.

As the conductor of this research project, I found the results interesting and informative to my future work. I believe this valuable information would be beneficial for any counselor working with the adult population to acquire, which is why I would like to use these results to prepare counselor trainings. I am excited to continue my practice working with women and couples struggling with infertility, as I believe I am more prepared as a result of conducting this

research. I hope to use the knowledge I've gained throughout this process to practice sound, evidence-based counseling practices and conduct effectiveness research on the interventions provided. And lastly, I hope this study makes all people who experience infertility one step closer to getting the quality service they need in moving through their journey.

REFERENCES

- American Pregnancy Association. Fertility FAQ. Retrieved April 24, 2012, from http://www.americanpregnancy.org/infertility/fertility/faq.html.
- American Society for Reproductive Medicine. (2007). Fact sheet: Stress and infertility. Retrieved June 27, 2001, from http://www.asrm.org/Patients/FactSheets/Stress-Fact.pdf.
- Anderson, K.M., Sharpe, M., Rattray, A., & Irvine, D.S. (2003). Distress and concerns in couples referred to a specialist infertility clinic. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 54, 353-355.
- Becker, G. (1994). Metaphors in disrupted lives: Infertility and cultural constructions of continuity. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, 8, 383–410.
- Benyamini, Y. (2003). Hope and fantasy among women coping with infertility and its treatment.
 In R. Jacoby & G. Keinan (Eds.), *Between stress and hope: From a disease-centered to a health-centered perspective*. Westport, CT: Praeger Publishing Group.
- Bergart, A.M. (2000). The experience of women in unsuccessful infertility treatment: What do patients need when medical intervention fails? *Social Work in Healthcare, 30(4),* 45-68.
- Berghuis, J.P., & Stanton, A.L. (2002). Adjustment to a dyadic stressor: A longitudinal study of coping and depressive symptoms in infertile couples over an insemination attempt.
 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 70(2), 433-438.
- Berk, A., & Shapiro, J.L. (1984). Some implications of infertility on marital therapy. *Family Therapy*, *11*(1), 37-47.
- Bleier, G.E. (1994). A comparison of infertile career women and infertile housewives on selfesteem, martial satisfaction, and stress level. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 55.
- Bloomberg, L.D., & Volpe, M. (2008). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A roadmap from beginning to end. Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage.

- Blyth, E. (2012). Guidelines for infertility counseling in different countries: Is there an emerging trend? *Human Reproduction*, *27*(7), 2046-2057.
- Boivin, J., & Kentenich, H. (Eds.). (2002). *Guidelines for counseling in infertility*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Boivin, J., & Schmidt, L. (2005). Infertility-related stress in men and women predicts treatment outcome 1 year later. *Fertility and Sterility*, *83*(6), 1745-1752.
- Born, R.R. (1989). Adlerian perspectives on counseling infertile couples. *Individual Psychology: The Journal of Adlerian Theory, Research and Practice, 45*(4), 447-458.
- Brennan, C. (2013). Ensuring Ethical Practice: Guidelines for Mental Health Counselors in Private Practice. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 35(3), 245-261.
- Bridges, S.K. (2005). A constructivist approach to infertility: Loss and meaning reconstruction. *Contemporary Sexuality*, *39*(12), 10-13.
- Brown, A.M. (2004). *Psychotherapy with individuals experiencing infertility* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.
- Burns, L.H., & Covington, S.N. (1999). Psychology of infertility. In L. Burns & S. Covington (Eds.), Infertility counseling. New York: Parthenon Publishing.
- Callan, V.J., & Hennessey, J.F. (1989). Strategies for coping with infertility. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 62, 343-354.
- Center for Disease Control. National Center for Health Statistics. (2007). Infertility. Retrieved June 27th, 2007 from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/faststats/fertile.htm.
- Chen, T.H., Chag, S.P., Tsai, C.F., Juang, K.D. (2004). Prevalence of depressive and anxiety disorders in an assisted reproductive technique clinic. *Human Reproduction*, 19, 2313-2318.

- Christie, G., & Morgan, A. (2000). Individual and group psychotherapy with infertile couples. *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy*, *50(2)*, 237-250.
- de Ridder, D., & Schreurs, K. (2001). Developing interventions for chronically ill patients: Is coping a helpful concept? *Clinical Psychology Review*, *21*, 205-240.
- Domar, A. (1996). Stress and infertility in women: Is there a relationship? *In Session: Psychotherapy in Practice, 2(2),* 17-27.
- Domar, A. (2000). The impact of group psychological interventions on pregnancy rates in infertile women. *Fertility and Sterility*, *73*, 805-811.
- Domar, A., Broome, A., Zuttermeister, P.C., Seibel, M., & Friedman, R. (1992). The prevalence and predictability of depression in infertile women. *Fertility and Sterility*, *58*, 1158-1163.
- Domar, A., Clapp, D.S., Slawsby, E., Kessel, E., Orav, J., & Freizinger, M. (2000). The impact of group psychological interventions on distress in infertile women. *Health Psychology*, 19(6), 568-575.
- Edelmann, R.J., Connolly, K.J., & Bartlett, H. (1994). Coping strategies and psychological adjustment of couples presenting for IVF. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 38*(4), 355-364.
- Epstein, Y.M., Rosenberg, H.S., Grant, T.V., Hemenway, N. (2002). Use of the internet as the only outlet for talking about infertility. *Fertility and Sterility*, *78*, 507-514.

Evers, J. (2002). Female subfertility. Lancet, 359, 151-159.

Facchinetti, F., Matteo, M.L., Artini, G.P., Volpe, A., Genazzani, A.R. (1997). An increased vulnerability to stress is associated with a poor outcome of in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer treatment. *Fertility and Sterility*, *67(2)*, 309-314.

- Gallinelli, A., Roncaglia, R., Matteo, M.L., Ciaccio, I., Volpe, A., Facchinetti, F. (2001).
 Immunological changes and stress are associated with different implantation rates in patients undergoing in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer. *Fertility and Sterility*, *76(1)*, 85-91.
- Gibson, D.M., & Myers, J.E. (2000). Gender and infertility: A relational approach to counseling women. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 78, 400-410.
- Gibson, D.M., & Myers, J.E. (2002). The effect of social coping resources and growth fostering relationships on infertility stress in women. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 24(1), 68-80.
- Goacher, L. (1995). In vitro fertilization: A study of clients waiting for pregnancy test results. *Nursing Standard*, *10*, 31-34.
- Gonzalez, L.O. (2000). Infertility as a transformational process: A framework for psychotherapeutic support of infertile women. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *21*, 619-633.
- Greil, A.L. (1991). A secret stigma: The analogy between infertility and chronic illness and disability. *Advances in Medical Sociology*, *2*, 17-38.
- Hammerli, K., Znoj, H., Burri, S., Graf, P., Wunder, D., & Perrig-Chiello, P. (2008).
 Psychological interventions for infertile patients: A review of existing research and a new comprehensive approach. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, 8*(4), 246-252. doi: 10.1080/14733140802292895
- Hammerli, K., Znoj, H., Barth, J. (2009). The efficacy of psychological interventions for infertile
 Patients: A meta-analysis examining mental health and pregnancy rate. *Human Reproduction Update*, *15*(3), 279-295.

- Hammarberg, K., Astbury, J., & Baker, H.W.G. (2001). Women's experience of IVF: A followup study. *Human Reproduction, 16,* 374-383.
- Hart, V.A. (2002). Infertility and the role of psychotherapy. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *23*, 31-41.
- Healy, D.L., Trounson, A.O., & Andersen, A.N. (1994). Female infertility: Causes and treatment. *The Lancet, 343(8912),* 1539-1545.
- Hsu, Y.L., & Kuo, B.J. (2002). Evaluations of emotional reactions and coping behaviors as well as correlated factors for infertile couples receiving assisted reproductive technologies. *Journal of Nursing Research*, 10(4), 291-301.
- Huang, J.Y.J., Discepola, F., Al-Fozan, H., Tulandi, T. (2005). Quality of fertility clinic websites. *Fertility and Sterility*, 83, 538-544.
- In Vitro Fertilization (IVF). (2012, April 28). *New York Times*. Retrieved from http://health.nytimes.com/health/guides/surgery/in-vitro-fertilization-ivf/overview.html on April 28, 2012.
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). 'Am I not answering your questions properly?' Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 13(1), 87-106. doi: 10.1177/1468794112439086
- Jacobs, N.N. (2003). A bibliotherapy approach for treating the psychological sequelae of infertility. *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*.
- Jones, G., Jenkinson, C., & Kennedy, S. (2004). The impact of endometriosis on quality of life: A qualitative analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology, 25*, 123-133.

- Jordan, C. & Revenson, T.A. (1999). Gender differences in coping with infertility: A meta analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *22*(2), 341-358.
- Katz, S. (2008). Integrative perspectives mindful care: An integrative tool to guide holistic treatment in enhancing fertility. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 44*(3), 207-210.

Kaufman, S. A. (1984). Stress and infertility. The Female Patient, 9, 107-108, 111, 114.

- Kelly-Weeder, S. & O'Connor, A. (2006). Modifiable risk factors for impaired fertility in women: What nurse practitioners need to know. *Journal of the American Academy* of Nurse Practitioners, 18, 268-276.
- Keystone, M., & Kaffko, K. (1992). The braided threads: Intimacy, sexuality and gender differences. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, *1*, 47-54.
- Khademi, A., Alleyassin, A., Aghahosseini, M., Ramezanzedeh, F., & Abhari, A.A. (2005).
 Pretreatment Beck Depression Inventory score is an important predictor for post-treatment score in infertile patients: A before-after study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 5(25). doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-5-25
- Kirkman, M. (2001). Thinking of something to say: Public and private narratives of infertility. *Health Care for Women International, 22,* 523-535.
- Kirkman, M. (2003). Infertile women and the narrative work of mourning: Barriers to the revision of autobiographical narratives of motherhood. *Narrative Inquiry*, *13*(1), 243-262.
- Klonoff-Cohen, H., Chu, E., Natarajan, L., & Sieber, W. (2001). A prospective study of stress among women undergoing in vitro fertilization or gamete intrafallopian transfer. *Fertility and Sterility*, *76*(4), 675-687.
- Korpatnick, S., Daniluk, J., & Pattinson, H.A. (1993). Infertility: A non-event transition. *Fertility and Sterility*, *59*, 163-171.

- Kraaij, V., Garnefski, N., & Vlietstra, A. (2008). Cognitive coping and depressive symptoms in definitive infertility: A prospective study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 29(1), 9-16. doi: 10.1080/01674820701505889
- Kruger, J., & Dunning, D. (2009). Unskilled and unaware of it: how difficulties in recognizing one's own incompetence lead to inflated self-assessments, *Psychology*, *1*, 30-46.
- Larzarus, R.S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal and coping. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lee, T.Y., Sun, G.H., Chao, S.C., & Chen, C.C. (2000). Development of the coping scale for infertile couples. *Archives of Andrology*, *45(3)*, 149-154.
- Levin, J.B., Sher, T.G., & Theodos, V. (1997). The effect of intracouple coping concordance on psychological and marital distress in infertility patients. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 4(4), 361-372.
- Lykeridou, K., Gourounti, K., Deltsidou, A., Loutradis, D., & Vaslamatzis, G. (2009). The impact of infertility diagnosis on psychological status of women undergoing fertility treatment. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 27(3), 223-237. doi: 10.1080/02646830802350864
- Mahlstedt, P.P., McDuff, S., & Bernstein, J. (1987). Emotional factors and the in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer process. *Journal of In Vitro Fertilization and Embryo Transfer, 4,* 232-236.
- Mastroianni, L., Morell, V., Sokol, R., & Begany, T. (1997). Helping infertile patients. *Patient Care*, *31(16)*, 103-112.
- Matthews, A., & Matthews, R. (1986). Beyond the mechanics of infertility: Perspectives on the social psychology of infertility and involuntary childlessness. *Family Relations*, *35*, 479-487.

- McDaniel, S.H., Hepworth, J., & Doherty, W. (1992). Medical family therapy with couples facing infertility. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, *20(2)*, 101-122.
- Mead, M. (1962). A cultural anthropologist's approach to maternal deprivation in deprivation of maternal care: A reassessment of its affects. Public Health Papers #14. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Menning, B.E. (1980). The emotional needs of infertile couples. *Fertility and Sterility*, *34*, 313-319.
- Merriam, S.B. (2009). Qualitative research: a guide to design and implementation. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miall, C.E. (1985). Perceptions of informal sanctioning and the stigma of involuntary childlessness. *Deviant Behavior*, 6, 383-403.

Miall, C.E. (1986). The stigma of involuntary childlessness. Social Problems, 33, 268-282.

- Milden, R. (1989). Infertility and the new reproductive technologies: Speculations from a psychodynamic perspective. In Offerman-Zuckerberg, J. (Ed.). *Gender in transition: A new frontier*. New York: Parthenon.
- Miles, L.M., Keitel, M., Jackson, M., Harris, A., & Licciardi, F. (2009). Predictors of distress in women being treated for infertility. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 27(3), 238-257. doi: 10.1080/02646830802350880.

Monach, J. (2003). Counseling: Its role in the infertility team. Human Fertility, 6, S17-S21.

Morrow, K.A., Thoreson, R.W., & Penney, L.L. (1995). Predictors of psychological distress among infertility clinic patients. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 63(1), 163-167.

- Myers, L.B., & Wark, L. (1996). Psychotherapy for infertility: A cognitive-behavioral approach for couples. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, *24(1)*, 9-20.
- Naish, S. (1994). *Counseling people with infertility problems*. Rugby: British Association for Counseling.
- Pasch, L.A., & Christenson, A. (2000). Couples facing fertility problems. In K.B. Schmaling & T.G. Sher (Eds.), *The psychology of couples and illness: Theory, research, & practice.*Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Patterson, J.E. (1986). But not alone: The grief of infertility. *Journal of the American Medical* Association, 255(17), 2293-2294.
- Patton, M.Q. (3rd ed.). (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods. Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage Publications.
- Paul, M. S., Berger, R., Berlow, N., Rovner-Ferguson, H., Figlerski, L., Gardner, S., Malave, A.
 F. (2010). Posttraumatic growth and social support in individuals with infertility. *Human Reproduction*, 25(1), 133-141. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dep367
- Paykel, E.S. (2001). Stress and affective disorders in humans. *Seminars in Clinical Neuropsychiatry, 6,* 4-11.
- Peterson, B., Boivin, J., Norré, J., Smith, C., Thorn, P., & Wischmann, T. (2012). An introduction to infertility counseling: a guide for mental health and medical professionals. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction & Genetics*, *29*(3), 243-248. doi:10.1007/s10815-011-9701-y
- Peterson, B.D., Newton, C.R., Rosen, K.H., & Schulman, R.S. (2006). Coping processes of couples experiencing infertility. *Family Relations: Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 55(2), 227-239.

Prattke, T.W., & Gass-Sternas, K.A. (1993). Appraisal, coping, and emotional health of infertile couples undergoing donor artificial insemination. *Journal of Obstetric Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing*, 22(6). 516-527.

Ralston, J. (1999). Making miracles. Parenting, 13(7), 126-128.

- Rank, N. (2010). Barriers for access to assisted reproductive technologies by lesbian women:
 The search for parity within the healthcare system. *Houston Journal of Health Law & Policy, 10,* 115-145.
- Revenson, T.A., Schiaffino, K.M., Majerovitz, S.D., & Gibofsky, A. (1991). Social support as a double-edged sword: The relations of positive and problematic support to depression among rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Social Science & Medicine*, *33(7)*, 807-813.
- Ridenour, A.F., Yorgason, J.B., & Peterson, B. (2009). The Infertility Resilience Model:
 Assessing individual, couple, and external predictive factors. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, *31*, 34-51. doi: 10.1007/s10591-008-9077-z
- Scheier, M.F., & Carver, C.S. (2001). Adapting to cancer: The importance of hope and purpose.In A. Baum & B.L. Andersen (Eds.), *Psychosocial interventions for cancer*. Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Schmidt, L. (2006). Psychosocial burden of infertility and assisted reproduction. *The Lancet,* 367, 379-380. Retrieved from www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/issue/current?tab=past.
- Seidman, I. (3rd ed.). (2006). Interviewing as qualitative research. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Shapiro, C.H. (2008). Therapy with infertile heterosexual couples: It's not about gender- or is it? *Clinical Social Work Journal, 37*, 140-149. doi 10.1007/s10615-008-0149-1

- Stanton, A.L., Tennen, H., Affleck, G., & Mendola, R. (1992). Coping and adjustment to infertility. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *11*, 1-13.
- Tarabusi, M., Volpe, A., & Facchinetti, F. (2004). Psychological group support attenuates distress of waiting in couples scheduled for assisted reproduction. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 25, 273-279. doi:10.1080/01674820400017905
- Tüzer, V., Tuncel, A., Göka, S., Bulut, S.D., Yüksel, F.V., Atan, A., & Göka, E. (2010) Marital adjustment and emotional symptoms in infertile couples: gender differences. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 40(2), 229-237. doi: 10.3906/sag-0901-17
- Vizheh, M., Pakgohar, M., Babaei, G., & Ramezanzadeh, F. (2013). Effect of counseling on quality of marital relationship of infertile couples: a randomized, controlled trial (RCT) study. *Archives of Gynecology & Obstetrics, 287*(3), 583-589. doi: 10.1007/s00404-012-2595-9
- Volgsten, H., Svanberg, A.S., & Olsson, P. (2010). Unresolved grief in women and men in Sweden three years after undergoing unsuccessful in vitro fertilization treatment. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 89*(10), 1290-1297. doi: 10.3109/00016349.2010.512063
- Watkins, K.J., & Baldo, T.D. (2004). The infertility experience: Biopsychosocial effects and suggestions for counselors. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, *82(4)*, 394-420.
- Wischmann, T. (2007). Implications of psychosocial support in infertility- A critical appraisal. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology, 29*(2), 83-90.
- Zucker, A.N. (1999). The psychological impact of reproductive difficulties on women's lives. *Sex Roles, 40*(9/10), 767-786.

APPENDIX A. IRB APPROVAL

Office of the Vice President for Research, Creative Activities and Technology Transfer

NDSU NORTH DAKOTA STATE UNIVERSITY

Institutional Review Board

1735 NDSU Research Park Drive Research 1, P.O. Box 6050 Fargo, ND 58108-6050

NDSU Dept. 4000

701.231.8995 Fax 701.231.8098

Federalwide Assurance #FWA00002439

May 31, 2012

Jill Nelson School of Education SGC C121

IRB Approval of Protocol #HE12208, "Counselor's Perceptions of the mental health aspect of infertility for heterosexual women"

Co-investigator(s) and research team: Michelle Westbrock, Janelle Stahl Ladbury, Jennifer Boeckel, Jennifer Obinna

Approval period: <u>5/31/2012</u> to <u>5/30/2013</u>

Continuing Review Report Due: <u>4/1/2013</u>

Research site(s): varied Funding agency: n/a Review Type: Expedited category # 7

IRB approval is based on original submission, with revised: protocol, recruitment documents, and consent (received 5/29/2012).

Additional approval is required:

- o prior to implementation of any proposed changes to the protocol (*Protocol Amendment Request Form*).
- for continuation of the project beyond the approval period (*Continuing Review/Completion Report Form*). A
 reminder is typically sent two months prior to the expiration date; timely submission of the report is your
 responsibility. To avoid a lapse in approval, suspension of recruitment, and/or data collection, a report must
 be received, and the protocol reviewed and approved prior to the expiration date.

A report is required for:

- any research-related injuries, adverse events, or other unanticipated problems involving risks to participants or others within 72 hours of known occurrence (*Report of Unanticipated Problem or Serious Adverse Event Form*).
- o any significant new findings that may affect risks to participants.
- o closure of the project (*Continuing Review/Completion Report Form*).

Research records are subject to random or directed audits at any time to verify compliance with IRB regulations and NDSU policies.

Thank you for cooperating with NDSU IRB procedures, and best wishes for a successful study.

Sincerely, it north hiley

Kristy Shirley, CIP Research Compliance Administrator

Last printed 5/31/2012 1:13:00 PM

NDSU is an EO/AA university

APPENDIX B. ORAL PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT SCRIPT

Hi, my name is Michelle Westbrock. I am a graduate student in the College of Human Development and Education at North Dakota State University, and I am conducting a research project to look at counselors' perceptions of the mental health aspects of infertility in heterosexual women. It is our hope, that with this research, we will learn more about counselors' understandings of the infertility experience as well as appropriate mental health treatments.

Would you like to hear more about our study?

[If yes,]

You are invited to participate in this research study. The only criteria for participating in the study are that you are a general practice Licensed Associate Professional Counselor, Licensed Professional Counselor or Licensed Professional Clinical Counselor and you are currently seeing clients. Your participation is entirely voluntary, and you may change your mind or quit participating at any time, with no penalty; however, your assistance would be greatly appreciated in making this a meaningful study.

If you decide to participate, we will set up a time for an interview. The interview should take between 45 and 90 minutes to complete and I will ask questions about your professional experiences with, and understandings of infertility. We can meet in your office, my office, or we could do a telephone interview if you prefer. I will audiotape the interview to ensure accuracy. You may also be invited to complete a shorter follow up interview. Once the research project is complete, I will erase the audio recordings. I can email you the demographic form and informed consent for your preview before we meet if you like.

When writing about the study, your information will be combined with information from other people taking part in the study; we will write about the combined information we have gathered. You will not be identified in these written materials. We may publish the results of the study; however, we will keep your name and other identifying information private.

Feel free to ask any questions about the study now, or contact me later at 701-471-9054, michellewestbrock@gmail.com. You may also contact my advisor, Dr. Jill Nelson at 701-231-7415, jill.r.nelson@ndsu.edu. If you have questions about the rights of human participants in research, or to report a complaint about the research, contact the NDSU Human Research Protection Program, at (701) 231.8908, or ndsu.irb@ndsu.edu.

Thank you for your participation in this study. If you wish to receive a copy of the research results, please email me at Michellewestbrock@gmail.com_or call 701-471-9054.

APPENDIX C. INFORMED CONSENT

NDSU North Dakota State University

Human Development and Education SGC Building 1919 N University Dr. Fargo, ND 58108-6050 701-231-7921

Title of Research Study: Counselors' Perceptions of the Mental Health Aspects of Infertility. **This study is being conducted by**: Michelle Westbrock is a doctoral candidate and can be reached at Michellewestbrock@gmail.com or 701-471-9054. The advisor of this research project is Dr. Nelson. She can be reached at jill.r.nelson@ndsu.edu.

Why am I being asked to take part in this research study? You are being invited to participate in this research study as a Licensed Associate Professional Counselor, Licensed Professional Counselor, or a Licensed Professional Clinical Counselor. The researcher's desire is to better understand practicing mental health counselor's experiences and understandings of the mental health aspects of infertility for heterosexual women. If you are a practicing, general practice, licensed counselor at an LAPC, LPC or LPCC level, then you can be a great contributor to this study.

What is the reason for doing the study? The purpose of this basic qualitative study is to uncover understandings mental health counselors have of infertility for heterosexual women. This understanding can help counselors better understand clients' experiences with infertility and the counselor's role in helping.

What will I be asked to do? After you agree to participate, you will be asked to complete a demographic form which includes some general information about you and your counseling practice. This informed consent form also will be asked to read and verbally consent to if you understand and agree to its contents. Once this is done you will be asked to participate in an approximately 45-90 minute audio recorded interview which will ask you questions about your perceptions of the infertility experience and appropriate mental health treatment of a heterosexual woman with infertility. By consenting you are agreeing to be audio recorded and letting the researcher use this recording to transcribe the data. The researcher will then ask if you agree to a potential follow up interview in the future, if needed. The researcher will also ask for your permission to send you your interview transcript to verify its accuracy shortly after your interview. The researcher will send out the themes from the research data for you to be able to review and verify.

Where is the study going to take place, and how long will it take? For convenience, an inperson interview can take place in your counseling office. If this is not preferred by you, the interview can take place at the researcher's office in Bismarck, ND with the cost of travel being accrued by the participant. If you are closer to Fargo, it is possible to conduct the interview on the NDSU campus. If you prefer, a telephone interview can be arranged. Interviews will take about 45-90 minutes of your time.

What are the risks and discomforts? The level of risk involved in this study is minimal due to the nature of the study. There is, however, a chance that the topic under investigation will be a sensitive one for you, and therefore elicit emotional distress. If this is your experience, you can choose to skip a question or withdraw from the study all together. The researcher will take great care to minimize any potential emotional distress by providing a comfortable and accepting

interview environment. The researcher will also take great care to ensure your privacy is protected and anonymity remains in place. It is not possible to identify all potential risks in research procedures, but the researcher(s) have taken reasonable safeguards to minimize any known risks to the participant. If new findings develop during the course of this research which may change your willingness to participate, we will tell you about these findings.

What are the benefits to me? As a result of participating in this study you could develop a more comprehensive understanding of your treatment approaches and perceptions of infertility. You will be given the opportunity to reflect on your understandings and beliefs, which ultimately can enhance your treatment with clients. However, this is not guaranteed and you may not get any benefit from being in this research study.

What are the benefits to other people? As a result of your participation in this study, the counseling field will have a better understanding of what is happening in the world of mental health treatment for infertility. This will provide a basis for moving forward with additional counselor trainings if needed. The other benefit is to the people suffering with infertility. This study will help them get the treatment their unique experience requires, as well as help them feel comfortable pursuing mental health treatment for infertility.

Do I have to take part in the study? While your contribution to this study is valuable, your participation in this research is your choice. If you decide to participate in the study, you may change your mind and stop participating at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are already entitled.

What will it cost me to participate? There will be no cost to you as the participant to be in this study, unless you choose an interview site that requires travel for you. If, however, you pursue follow-up processing with a counselor or other professional it would be at your own cost.

What are the alternatives to being in this research study? Instead of being in this research study, you can choose not to participate.

Who will see the information that I give? We will keep private all research records which identify you. There are IRB trained and approved peer reviewers participating in the research that will go over the transcripts and the researcher's analysis of the data, however no identifying information will be provided in the transcripts. In the analysis process, your information will be combined with information from other people taking part in the study. When we write about the study, we will write about the combined information that we have gathered from all ten research participants. We may publish the results of the study; however, we will keep your name and other identifying information private. We will make every effort to prevent anyone who is not on the research team from knowing that you gave us information, or what that information is. For example, your name will be kept separate from your research records and these two things will be stored in different places under lock and key. During the interview and analysis process you will be referred to as a participant number or pseudonym instead of your name. You should know, however, that there are some circumstances in which we may have to show your information to other people. For example the law may require us to show your information to a court or to tell authorities if we believe you have abused a child, or you pose a danger to yourself or someone else.

Will I receive any compensation for taking part in this study? As a token of great appreciation, the researcher would like to gift a ten dollar gift card with a thank you note to each participant after the interview.

What if I have questions? Before you decide whether to accept this invitation to take part in the research study, please ask any questions that might come to mind now. Later, if you have any

questions about the study, you can contact the researcher, Michelle Westbrock at 701-471-9054 or Dr. Jill Nelson at 701-231-7415.

What are my rights as a research participant? You have rights as a participant in research. If you have questions about your rights, or complaints about this research you may talk to the researcher or contact the NDSU Human Research Protection Program by:

- Telephone: 701.231.8908
- Email: ndsu.irb@ndsu.edu
- Mail: NDSU HRPP Office, NDSU Dept. 4000, PO Box 6050, Fargo, ND 58108-6050.

The role of the Human Research Protection Program is to see that your rights are protected in this research; more information about your rights can be found at: www.ndsu.edu/research/irb.

Documentation of Informed Consent:

You are freely making a decision whether to be in this research study. Agreeing to this form means that

- 1. you have read and understood this consent form
- 2. you have had your questions answered, and
- 3. you have decided to be in the study.

APPENDIX D. DEMOGRAPHIC FORM

| Demographic Form | Participant # |
|---|--|
| Name: | Gender: Male/Female |
| Business address: | |
| Phone number: | |
| Email: | |
| Type of license: | |
| Years practicing: | |
| Education level: | |
| Type of practice: | |
| Specializations: | |
| Theoretical orientation: | |
| Number of clients seen weekly: | |
| History of seeing clients with infertility: | |
| Have you received training or CEUs related to infertility many hours? | ?If yes, what kind and how |
| Is there a fertility center in your community? Is needs of patients? | f yes, do they serve the mental health |

APPENDIX E. INTERVIEW QUESTION GUIDE

- (1) What assumptions or beliefs do you have about the issue of infertility?
- a. How do you perceive these assumptions/beliefs impacting the counseling experience?
- (2) A heterosexual woman client of yours says she has just been diagnosed with infertility; please describe to me your understanding of what her experience with that could entail?
- a. Emotional experience
- b. Cognitive experience
- c. Coping process
- d. Social experience
- (3) Can you give me a tour of a session with a client (heterosexual woman) that has infertility? (or potential client)
- a. What was the session like for you? (or would be)
- (4) How prepared do you feel to successfully counsel a heterosexual woman with infertility?
- a. What has helped prepare you?
- b. What would help you feel more prepared?
- (5) How comfortable do you feel to counsel a heterosexual woman with infertility?
- a. What experiences have you had to increase your comfort level?
- b. What experiences have you had to increase discomfort?
- (6) What would you ascribe as the goal of your counseling session with a heterosexual woman with infertility?

- (7) What are your perceptions of the primary treatment concerns for a heterosexual woman with infertility?
- a. What are your perceptions of appropriate treatment approaches to address those concerns?
- (8) What would harmful treatment look like or entail?
- (9) Is there anything else on your mind regarding the experience of infertility for your clients or your treatment with the client?